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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 

 

1) Is the law clearly established that a suspect reach-
ing for a nearby gun does not present an immediate 
threat, justifying the use of deadly force, unless and 
until the suspect’s hand is within inches of that gun? 

2) Where a jury awards only nominal damages on a 
claim brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 but awards 
substantial damages on a pendent state law claim, can 
the district court, in ruling on a motion for attorney’s 
fees under 42 U.S.C. §1988, evaluate the degree of suc-
cess achieved in the litigation by considering the dam-
ages awarded on the state law claim, even if the state 
law claim involves injuries suffered by different par-
ties than the person whose constitutional rights were 
at issue in the §1983 claim? 
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING 

 

 

 Petitioners (defendants, appellants, and cross-
appellees below): 

CITY OF FRESNO and OFFICER GREG 
CATTON 

Represented by Mildred K. O’Linn, Esq., 
Steven J. Renick, Esq., Tony M. Sain, Esq., 
MANNING & KASS, ELLROD, RAMIREZ, 
TRESTER LLP, 801 South Figueroa 
Street, 15th Floor, Los Angeles, California 
90017 

 Respondents (plaintiffs, appellees, and cross-
appellants below): 

CHRIS WILLIS and MARY WILLIS, indi- 
vidually and as successors in interest to 
STEPHEN WILLIS 

Represented by Walter H. Walker, III, Esq., 
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Esq., WALKER, HAMILTON, KOENIG 
& BURBIDGE, LLP, 50 Francisco Street, 
Suite 460, San Francisco, California 
94133-2100 

 Additional defendants below: 

OFFICER DANIEL ASTACIO and CHIEF 
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CITATIONS FOR OPINIONS BELOW 

 The memorandum decision and the order of the 
Court of Appeals denying the petition for rehearing 
and rejecting the suggestion for hearing en banc were 
not reported. None of the filings in the district court 
were reported. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

BASIS FOR JURISDICTION IN THIS COURT 

 The Court of Appeals filed its opinion on March 1, 
2017. That Court denied the petitioners’ petition for re-
hearing and rejected the suggestion for hearing en 
banc on April 7, 2017. 28 U.S.C. §1254(1) confers juris-
diction on this Court to review on writ of certiorari the 
opinion of the Court of Appeals. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS AT ISSUE 

 The underlying action was brought by the re-
spondent pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 and California 
Code of Civil Procedure sections 377.60 and 
377.61, which respectively read as follows: 

42 U.S.C. §1983: 

 “Every person who, under color of any 
statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or us-
age, of any State or Territory or the District of 
Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, 
any citizen of the United States or other 
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person within the jurisdiction thereof to the 
deprivation of any rights, privileges, or im-
munities secured by the Constitution and 
laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an 
action at law, suit in equity, or other proper 
proceeding for redress, except that in any ac-
tion brought against a judicial officer for an 
act or omission taken in such officer’s judicial 
capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted 
unless a declaratory decree was violated or 
declaratory relief was unavailable. For the 
purposes of this section, any Act of Congress 
applicable exclusively to the District of Co-
lumbia shall be considered to be a statute of 
the District of Columbia.” 

California Code of Civil Procedure sec-
tion 377.60 (relevant portion only): 

 “A cause of action for the death of a per-
son caused by the wrongful act or neglect of 
another may be asserted by any of the follow-
ing persons or by the decedent’s personal rep-
resentative on their behalf: 

 (a) The decedent’s surviving spouse, do-
mestic partner, children, and issue of deceased 
children, or, if there is no surviving issue of 
the decedent, the persons, including the sur-
viving spouse or domestic partner, who would 
be entitled to the property of the decedent by 
intestate succession.” 
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California Code of Civil Procedure sec-
tion 377.61: 

 “In an action under this article, damages 
may be awarded that, under all the circum-
stances of the case, may be just, but may not 
include damages recoverable under Section 
377.34. The court shall determine the respec-
tive rights in an award of the persons entitled 
to assert the cause of action.” 

 The respondents allege that the petitioners vio-
lated their decedent’s rights under the Fourth Amend-
ment to the United States Constitution, which reads 
as follows: 

Fourth Amendment: 

 “The right of the people to be secure in 
their persons, houses, papers, and effects, 
against unreasonable searches and seizures, 
shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall 
issue, but upon probable cause, supported by 
Oath or affirmation, and particularly describ-
ing the place to be searched, and the persons 
or things to be seized.” 

 The respondents were awarded attorney’s fees 
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988(b), which reads as fol-
lows: 

42 U.S.C. §1988(b): 

 “In any action or proceeding to enforce a 
provision of sections 1981, 1981a, 1982, 1983, 
1985, and 1986 of this title, title IX of Public 
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Law 92-318 [20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq.], the Reli-
gious Freedom Restoration Act of 1993 [42 
U.S.C. 2000bb et seq.], the Religious Land Use 
and Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000 [42 
U.S.C. 2000cc et seq.], title VI of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964 [42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.], or 
section 13981 of this title, the court, in its dis-
cretion, may allow the prevailing party, other 
than the United States, a reasonable attor-
ney’s fee as part of the costs, except that in 
any action brought against a judicial officer 
for an act or omission taken in such officer’s 
judicial capacity such officer shall not be held 
liable for any costs, including attorney’s fees, 
unless such action was clearly in excess of 
such officer’s jurisdiction.” 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 Shortly before midnight on March 27, 2009, Offic-
ers Greg Catton and Daniel Astacio were instructed to 
investigate a possible driving under the influence and 
hit and run. 2 RT 342-343; 4 RT 860. Upon arriving at 
the scene, they encountered Stephen Willis, who had 
his back to them and was reaching into the trunk of his 
car. 2 RT 350-351. When Willis turned to face the offic-
ers, he had his hand on the butt of a holstered gun. 2 
RT 354-355; 416; 4 RT 864. 

 Officers Catton and Astacio identified themselves 
as police officers and gave Willis commands to drop the 
gun. 2 RT 402, 418; 4 RT 865. Instead, Willis withdrew 
his holstered handgun, 2 RT 419; 4 RT 865, causing 
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Officers Catton and Astacio to fire their duty weapons 
while Willis fired his gun in Officer Catton’s direction. 
4 RT 865. Willis, having been struck by multiple 
rounds fired by the officers, dropped his gun and fell to 
the ground. See 2 RT 425. Officer Astacio, seeing Willis 
on the ground, moved from his position to radio for as-
sistance while Officer Catton provided cover for him. 2 
RT 396, 425. 

 According to the testimony of Officer Catton, Wil-
lis then propped himself up on his left side and began 
moving towards his gun, which was only 2 to 3 feet 
from him. 4 RT 877, 880. Officer Catton testified that 
he gave Willis commands not to go for the gun. 4 RT 
880. When Willis appeared to still be going for his gun, 
Officer Catton testified that he responded by firing one 
or two shots at Willis, one of which struck Willis. 4 RT 
880-881. 

 The district court, reviewing the evidence in con-
nection with its decision to deny the defendants’ mo-
tion for judgment as a matter of law under Rule 50(a) 
and to deny Officer Catton qualified immunity, con-
cluded that, even though Officer Catton was the only 
eyewitness to the final shots he fired at Willis and 
there was no direct evidence contradicting Officer 
Catton’s testimony, there was circumstantial evidence 
that permitted the jury to disbelieve Officer Catton’s 
version of the events. 

 Defendants ignore significant testimonial 
evidence to the contrary. The other officer 
involved in the shooting, Officer Astacio, 
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testified that he believed the threat had “di-
minished” and that “the immediate threat 
[was] not there because he’s [sic] on the 
ground.” Officer Cerda testified that he saw 
Stephen Willis’s body prior to the final shots, 
and Stephen Willis was on the ground and 
twitching, which implies Stephen Willis was 
not reaching for the gun. A reasonable juror 
may have received these statements to sup-
port a conclusion that Stephen Willis was not 
moving when Officer Catton fired the final 
shot(s). 

 Significant other circumstantial evidence 
was presented that would permit the jury to 
disbelieve Officer Catton’s testimony that Ste-
phen Willis was reaching for his gun prior to 
the last shot(s). By the time Office[r] Catton 
fired the final shot(s), Stephen Willis had 
already been shot twelve-to-thirteen times. 
These shots were dispersed throughout his 
body, including all four limbs, his neck and 
torso. Stephen Willis’s condition would permit 
a reasonable juror to conclude that Stephen 
Willis lacked both the physical capacity and 
situational awareness to have been reaching 
for his gun. A reasonable juror could have 
found this circumstance contradicted Officer 
Catton’s testimony. 

 Officer Jacobo testified that, after the fi-
nal shot(s), he heard Officer Catton “shout” “I 
can see the gun. I can see the gun.” A reason-
able juror could have received this testimony 
to indicate that Officer Catton did not, in fact, 
see Stephen Willis reaching for the gun before 
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the final shot(s). Officer Jacobo also testified 
that, after the final shot(s), he heard Officer 
Catton exclaim in a “raised,” “excited” voice, 
that he put a bullet hole in Stephen’s back. Of-
ficer Reyes testified that Officer Catton was 
“smirking” after the shooting. A reasonable ju-
ror could have received this testimony to indi-
cate that Officer Catton’s use of force in those 
final moments was not the result of any threat 
presented by Stephen Willis. 

App. 27-28. 

 Both sides offered expert testimony regarding the 
propriety of the police officers’ actions, and both ex-
perts agreed “that if Willis had been reaching for the 
gun, deadly force was justified.” App. 2. See 4 RT 986; 
7 RT 1588. However, the plaintiff ’s expert qualified his 
statement by opining that Willis would have had to 
have been just about to touch his gun – “I’m talking 
inches from the gun” – before the use of deadly force 
would have been justified. 4 RT 986, 987. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 The plaintiffs filed suit against the City of Fresno, 
Officer Greg Catton, Officer Daniel Astacio, and Chief 
Jerry Dyar on October 7, 2009 in the United States 
District Court for the Eastern District of California. 
Dkt. 1. An amended complaint was filed on December 
30, 2009. Dkt. 17. 
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 The action was brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 
§§1983 and 1988 and the Fourth and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the United States Constitution and 
California wrongful death and survivorship law. The 
district court had original jurisdiction pursuant to 
28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1343 and supplemental jurisdic-
tion over the plaintiffs’ state law claims pursuant to 
28 U.S.C. §1367. See 2 ER 164. 

 On July 13, 2011, the defendants’ motion for sum-
mary judgment was granted and judgment was en-
tered against the plaintiffs that same day. Dkt. 141, 
142. The plaintiffs appealed from that judgment, and 
the Ninth Circuit partially reversed and remanded the 
case in a memorandum decision filed on May 30, 2013 
in Case No. 11-16915. 

 Following the remand from the Court of Appeals, 
the case went to trial beginning on December 4, 2013. 
Dkt. 214. Two causes of action ultimately went to the 
jury: Stephen Willis’s §1983 claim, brought by his par-
ents as his successors in interest, and the plaintiffs’ 
state law wrongful death claim. See App. 8-12. 

 Prior to the jury returning its verdict, the defen- 
dants on several occasions suggested to the district 
court that the jury should be asked to answer special 
interrogatories relevant to the decision the district 
court would later make regarding the defendants’ en-
titlement to qualified immunity. See 9 RT 1878-1880, 
2065-2078 and 10 RT 2082-2089. The defendants sub-
mitted several sets of proposed special interrogatories, 
and the district court prepared its own proposed set. 
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See 1 ER 95-105. The district court ultimately declined 
to submit any special interrogatories to the jury. 10 RT 
2087. 

 The jury returned its verdict on December 17, 
2013. Dkt. 234. The jury found that Officer Catton had 
used excessive force, but that Officer Astacio had not. 
The jury found that Officer Catton’s use of excessive 
forced caused damage to decedent Stephen Willis and 
awarded the sum of $1.00 as nominal damages for the 
constitutional claim. App. 8-10. 

 The jury further found that Officer Catton, but not 
Officer Astacio, had been negligent, that Officer Cat-
ton’s negligence was a substantial factor in causing 
harm to plaintiffs Chris and Mary Willis, and that the 
damage suffered by the plaintiffs for the loss of the 
love, companionship, comfort, and care of Stephen Wil-
lis amounted to $1,500,000.00, plus $10,224 for funeral 
and burial expenses. App. 10-12. However, the jury also 
found that the decedent had been negligent and was 
80% responsible for his death. App. 12-13. 

 The special verdict form submitted to the jury did 
not ask the jury to decide whether Stephen Willis had 
been reaching for his gun at the time Officer Catton 
fired his last shot(s). See App. 8-15.  

 On January 31, 2014, the district court issued its 
order denying the defendants’ motion for judgment as 
a matter of law under Rule 50(a) and denying Officer 
Catton qualified immunity. Dkt. 250; App. 16-31. Among 
other things, the district court concluded that “the jury 
necessarily made three findings of fact: (1) Stephen 
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Willis posed a dangerous threat justifying use of 
deadly force when Officer Catton and Officer Astacio 
initially encountered and fired upon Stephen Willis; 
(2) Stephen Willis continued to pose a dangerous 
threat justifying use of deadly force when he retreated 
behind the van until Officer Catton left his firing posi-
tion to join Officer Astacio; and (3) Stephen Willis did 
not pose a dangerous threat justifying use of deadly 
force at the time Officer Catton fired the final shot(s). 
These findings of fact were necessarily determined by 
the jury and essential to their judgment, . . . ” App. 23-
24. 

 Judgment was entered on January 31, 2014 in fa-
vor of plaintiffs Chris Willis and Mary Willis, as suc-
cessors in interest to Stephen Willis and against 
defendant Greg Catton in the amount of $1.00. Judg-
ment was further entered in favor of plaintiffs Chris 
Willis, individually, and Mary Willis, individually, and 
against defendants Greg Catton and the City of Fresno 
in the amount of $302,044.80 (20% of $1,510,224.00). 
Judgment was entered in favor of defendant Daniel 
Astacio and against plaintiffs Chris Willis and Mary 
Willis, individually and as successors in interest to 
Stephen Willis. Dkt. 251; App. 32-33. 

 On July 17, 2014, the district court issued its order 
granting the plaintiffs’ motion for attorney’s fees in the 
amount of $717,642.74. Dkt 316; App. 34-100. 

 The defendants appealed from the judgment and 
the award of attorney’s fees. Dkt. 319. The plaintiffs 
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cross-appealed. Dkt. 329. On March 1, 2017, the Court 
of Appeals issued its memorandum decision. 

 The appellate court rejected the defendants’ 
claims, including regarding the denial of qualified im-
munity to Officer Catton and the granting of attorney’s 
fees to the plaintiff. App. 1-7. However, the court par-
tially reversed the judgment as to the district court’s 
order precluding the plaintiffs from seeking damages 
for Stephen Willis’s pre-death pain and suffering, and 
remanded the case to the district court “so that plain-
tiffs may present evidence in support of their claim for 
pre-death pain and suffering damages.” App. 5. 

 In addition, the appellate court rejected the “de-
fendants’ argument that the district court erred by 
considering plaintiffs’ pendent state law claims when 
evaluating the degree of success plaintiffs achieved in 
the litigation.” App. 6. 

 On April 7, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied the 
defendants’ petition for rehearing and rehearing en 
banc. App. 101-102. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
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REASONS FOR GRANTING CERTIORARI 

1. THE DISTRICT AND APPELLATE COURTS 
DENIED OFFICER CATTON QUALIFIED IM-
MUNITY BASED ON A GUESS AS TO HOW 
THE JURY DECIDED A FACTUAL DISPUTE 
THAT IS KEY TO DETERMINING WHETHER 
THE RIGHT AT ISSUE IN THIS ACTION WAS 
CLEARLY ESTABLISHED  

 This Court has had to repeatedly remind the lower 
federal courts of “the longstanding principle that 
‘clearly established law’ should not be defined ‘at a 
high level of generality.’ As this Court explained dec-
ades ago, the clearly established law must be ‘particu-
larized’ to the facts of the case.” White v. Pauly, ___ U.S. 
___, 137 S.Ct. 548, 552, 196 L.Ed.2d 463, 468 (2017) (ci-
tations omitted). Necessarily inherent in that prin- 
ciple is that the district court making the initial de- 
termination whether qualified immunity is available 
must determine just what “the facts of the case” are. 

 Here, the Court of Appeals concluded that “[t]he 
district court did not err by denying Officer Catton 
qualified immunity” because “[t]he constitutional right 
to be free from the use of deadly force absent an imme-
diate threat of harm to officers or others was clearly 
established at the time Officer Catton acted.” App. 2, 3. 
The Court of Appeals explained that “[t]he evidence 
presented at trial established that if Willis had been 
reaching for the gun, deadly force was justified. Since 
the jury concluded that the force used was not justified, 
it must have concluded that Willis was not reaching for 
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the gun and thus did not pose an immediate threat of 
harm when Officer Catton fired.” App. 2-3. 

 On its face, the appellate court’s analysis appears 
to meet the standard identified in White. But there is 
a problem with the Ninth Circuit’s analysis: its conclu-
sion as to the factual determination reached by the 
jury. Specifically, the Court of Appeals concluded that 
since the jury determined that excessive force was 
used, it necessarily must have concluded that Mr. 
Willis was not reaching for his gun at the time Officer 
Catton fired. But the jury did not make such an explicit 
finding and, given the evidence presented to the jury, 
it did not have to reach that conclusion in order to de-
cide that Officer Catton used excessive force. 

 The issue arises from the testimony that was 
offered by plaintiff ’s expert Stephen Lowell D’Arcy. 
Mr. D’Arcy did not agree that any attempt by Mr. Willis 
to grab the gun that was laying near him would have 
justified Officer Catton’s use of deadly force. Rather, he 
testified that such force would be justified if Mr. Willis 
were “reaching and about to grab the gun”. 4 RT 986. 
In response to the specific question “[a]nd he’s moving 
toward the gun, which is two or three feet from him, 
and about to grab the gun, then deadly force is appro-
priate?” Mr. D’Arcy explained that “I wouldn’t say two 
or three feet. If he’s about to reach the gun, I’m talking 
inches from the gun. . . . If he has reached out his 
hands at two feet and he’s about to touch the gun and 
re-engage the officer, that would be an immediate 
threat.” 4 RT 986, 987. 
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 So the jury was presented with two possible 
grounds for concluding that Officer Catton’s final 
shot(s) might not have been justified: 1) because Mr. 
Willis had not reached for his gun at all, or 2) because 
Mr. Willis had reached for the gun but had not gotten 
to within “inches” of the gun prior to Officer Catton fir-
ing. This difference is critical in determining whether 
the right at issue here was clearly established. 

 The statement that “[t]he constitutional right to 
be free from the use of deadly force absent an immedi-
ate threat of harm to officers or others was clearly es-
tablished at the time Officer Catton acted”, App. 3, is 
at the level of generality that this Court has decried. 
The Court of Appeals attempted to particularize that 
rule to the specific facts of this case by stating that the 
jury had found that Mr. Willis was not reaching for his 
gun at the time Officer Catton fired his last shot(s). 

 But what if the jury actually concluded that Mr. 
Willis had been reaching for his gun but had not gotten 
within “inches” of it, as plaintiff ’s expert D’Arcy had 
indicated was essential to justify the use of deadly 
force? In that case, the jury would still have reached 
the same conclusion: that the force used by Officer Cat-
ton was not justified. But is the law clearly established 
that a suspect’s hand must be within “inches” of a gun 
before the suspect’s attempt to grab the gun will con-
stitute an immediate threat? The answer appears to be 
“no”. 

 As far as the defendants have been able to deter-
mine, the cases holding that it was not appropriate for 
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an officer to use deadly force in circumstances where 
there was a gun in the vicinity of a suspect seem to 
fall into one of two categories: either the gun was far 
enough away to be out of the suspect’s reach – see, e.g., 
Wallace v. City of Alexander, 843 F.3d 763, 769 (8th Cir. 
2016) (“[a]t the time of the seizure, Wallace had thrown 
his gun out of reach”) – or, if the gun was close enough 
for the suspect to reach the gun, he or she was not at-
tempting to do so – see, e.g., Ngo v. Storlie, 495 F.3d 
597, 603 (8th Cir. 2007) (“Ngo had dropped his weapon. 
He was not pointing a pistol at the officers, nor was he 
reaching for one.”). 

 Here, the Court of Appeals assumed that the jury 
found that the facts of this case fit into the second cat-
egory. But as noted above, the evidence presented to 
the jury offered a third factual scenario: the gun was 
close enough for Mr. Willis to reach it, and he was at-
tempting to do so. Plaintiff ’s expert D’Arcy opined that 
this was still not a sufficient basis for Officer Catton to 
use deadly force because Mr. Willis’s hand had not got-
ten to within “inches” of the gun. 

 As far as the defendants have been able to deter-
mine, no court has ever held that a suspect’s attempt 
to grab a gun that is within his or her reach does not 
constitute an immediate threat until the suspect’s 
hand gets to within inches of that gun. Thus, even if we 
assume that Mr. D’Arcy’s opinion accurately reflects 
the scope of an individual’s rights under the Fourth 
Amendment, that particularized understanding of that 
right was not clearly established by any existing case 
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law, or by any extension of the existing case law that a 
reasonable officer should have understood. 

 Put another way, there was no case law that would 
have put Officer Catton on notice that if Mr. Willis was 
in fact reaching for a gun that was just two to three 
feet away from him, the officer had to wait until Mr. 
Willis’s hand got to within inches of the gun before Of-
ficer Catton could use deadly force to protect himself, 
his partner, and the residents in the area from the 
threat posed by Mr. Willis re-arming himself and re-
suming the gun battle with the officers. 

 None of this would matter if the jury had in fact 
definitively concluded, as the Court of Appeals as-
sumed, that Mr. Willis was not attempting to reach for 
his nearby gun at the time Officer Catton fired his last 
shot(s). But there is no way of knowing exactly what 
factual determination the jury made, because the 
district court refused to ask the jury, despite the de-
fendants having requested that special interrogatories 
be submitted to the jury and the district court itself 
acknowledging that “when qualified immunity de-
pends on genuinely disputed issues of material fact, 
the Court must submit the fact related issues to the 
jury.” 9 RT 2078. 

 Since the record does not establish how the jury 
resolved this key factual dispute (assuming the jury 
did resolve it), the lower courts’ decisions to deny qual-
ified immunity to Officer Catton can stand only if it 
was clearly established not only that a suspect does not 
pose an immediate threat justifying the use of deadly 
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force if that suspect is not reaching for a nearby gun, 
but also that a suspect does not pose an immediate 
threat if the suspect’s hand has not yet gotten to within 
inches of that gun. 

 This Court needs to grant certiorari in this case to 
resolve, for the better understanding of the lower 
courts and law enforcement throughout the country 
as to the scope of qualified immunity, the question of 
whether the law is clearly established that a suspect 
reaching for a nearby gun does not constitute an im-
mediate threat justifying the use of deadly force until 
and unless that suspect’s hands get to within inches of 
that gun. In fact, this Court should resolve the ques-
tion of whether it is always a constitutional violation 
for an officer to use deadly force in response to a sus-
pect reaching for a nearby gun until and unless that 
suspect’s hands get to within inches of that gun. 

 
2. BASING THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES 

IN THIS ACTION ON THE LEVEL OF SUC-
CESS ACHIEVED ON THE LEGALLY DIS-
TINCT STATE LAW CAUSE OF ACTION FOR 
WRONGFUL DEATH IS NOT CONSISTENT 
WITH THE PURPOSES OF 42 U.S.C. §1988  

 The jury in this action awarded only $1.00 in nom-
inal damages on the claim brought under 42 U.S.C. 
§1983, but found that the plaintiffs had suffered dam-
ages of $1,510,224.00 as the result of the wrongful 
death of their son (which amount was later reduced 
by 80% to reflect the contributory negligence of the 
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decedent). In ruling on the plaintiffs’ motion to recover 
attorney’s fees under 42 U.S.C. §1988, the district court 
acknowledged this Court’s holding in Farrar v. Hobby, 
506 U.S. 103, 115 (1992) “that ‘[w]hen a plaintiff recov-
ers only nominal damages because of his failure to 
prove an essential element of his claim for monetary 
relief, the only reasonable fee is usually no fee at all.’ 
[Citation.]” App. 39. The district court continued that 
“ ‘Farrar therefore teaches that an award of nominal 
damages is not enough’ to justify an award of attor-
ney’s fees. [Citations.]” App. 39-40. 

 The district court concluded that Farrar was not a 
bar to the plaintiffs recovering attorney’s fees under 
§1988 in this matter because “Plaintiffs received a sub-
stantial award on the litigation as a whole, whereas 
the plaintiffs in Farrar received only a nominal award 
of $1 in total. [Citation.]. . . . The substantial award on 
Plaintiffs’ pendent state claim, which was based on the 
same standard as the Section 1983 claim, distin-
guishes Plaintiffs from the plaintiffs in Farrar, . . . ” 
App. 40-41. 

 This Court has not addressed the specific question 
of whether an award of attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 
U.S.C. §1988 can be based on the success a plaintiff ob-
tains on a pendent state law claim rather than on the 
success achieved on the claim brought under §1983. 
Lower courts that have concluded that they can base 
their fee award on the outcome achieved in the pen-
dent state claim presumably are basing their conclu-
sion that they can do so on language in this Court’s 
opinion in Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424 (1983). 
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 In that case, this Court addressed the question of 
“whether a partially prevailing plaintiff may recover 
an attorney’s fee [under section 1988] for legal services 
on unsuccessful claims.” Id. at 426. This Court con-
cluded that: 

 In some cases a plaintiff may present in 
one lawsuit distinctly different claims for re-
lief that are based on different facts and legal 
theories. In such a suit, even where the claims 
are brought against the same defendants – of-
ten an institution and its officers, as in this 
case – counsel’s work on one claim will be un-
related to his work on another claim. Accord-
ingly, work on an unsuccessful claim cannot 
be deemed to have been ‘expended in pursuit 
of the ultimate result achieved.’ [Citation.] 
The congressional intent to limit awards to 
prevailing parties requires that these unre-
lated claims be treated as if they had been 
raised in separate lawsuits, and therefore no 
fee may be awarded for services on the unsuc-
cessful claim. 

Id. at 434-435 (footnote omitted). However, this Court 
further explained that: 

Many civil rights cases will present only a sin-
gle claim. In other cases the plaintiff ’s claims 
for relief will involve a common core of facts 
or will be based on related legal theories. 
Much of counsel’s time will be devoted gener-
ally to the litigation as a whole, making it 
difficult to divide the hours expended on a 
claim-by-claim basis. Such a lawsuit cannot 
be viewed as a series of discrete claims. 
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Instead the district court should focus on the 
significance of the overall relief obtained by 
the plaintiff in relation to the hours reasona-
bly expended on the litigation. 

Id. at 435. 

 That language has apparently been interpreted by 
various courts to allow district courts to consider the 
success obtained by plaintiffs on pendent state law 
claims in determining whether to award attorney’s 
fees under §1988 and how much to award as such 
fees. 

 The issue presented by the defendants in this 
petition is narrower than the more general one of 
whether this interpretation of the language in Hensley 
is correct, because there is a fundamental distinction 
between the theoretical situation described by this 
Court in Hensley and the situation in the present case. 
Specifically, this Court in Hensley was considering sit-
uations where the same plaintiff presented multiple 
claims based on “a common core of facts or . . . related 
legal theories.” Here, however, while the plaintiffs may 
technically have been the same on the 42 U.S.C. §1983 
and state law wrongful death claims, in reality the two 
claims involved injuries suffered by different persons, 
seeking recovery under distinctly different legal theo-
ries. 

 In this case, the 42 U.S.C. §1983 claim prosecuted 
by plaintiffs Chris and Mary Willis did not arise from 
a claim that their own constitutional rights had been 
violated by the defendants. (“Plaintiffs voluntarily 
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abandoned their Fourteenth Amendment claims just 
before the case went to the jury.” App. 92, fn. 21.) They 
were prosecuting the decedent’s §1983 claim pursuant 
to California’s survivorship statute, which permits 
such surviving causes of action to be prosecuted “by the 
decedent’s personal representative or, if none, by the 
decedent’s successor in interest.” California Code of 
Civil Procedure §377.30. (A “personal representative” 
is the executor, administrator, or other person holding 
a similar role regarding the decedent’s estate. Califor-
nia Probate Code §58(a).) 

 However, plaintiffs Chris and Mary Willis, in pros-
ecuting the wrongful death state law cause of action, 
were litigating their own personal cause of action, au-
thorized by California Code of Civil Procedure §377.60, 
based on the injuries they personally suffered as a 
result of the death of Stephen Willis. “Unlike some ju-
risdictions wherein wrongful death actions are deriva-
tive, Code of Civil Procedure section 377.60 creates a 
new cause of action in favor of the heirs as beneficiar-
ies, based upon their own independent pecuniary in-
jury suffered by loss of a relative, and distinct from any 
the deceased might have maintained had he survived.” 
Ruiz v. Podolsky, 50 Cal.4th 838, 844 (2010) (citations 
and internal quotation marks omitted). 

 It goes without saying that the plaintiffs could 
have prosecuted their wrongful death cause of action 
without joining it to, or even prosecuting, the dece-
dent’s §1983 claim, and the reverse is true as well. 
Perhaps more significantly, the decedent’s §1983 claim 
could have been prosecuted without any involvement 
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at all of plaintiffs Chris and Mary Willis, if a probate 
proceeding had been commenced for Stephen Willis’s 
estate and someone other than Chris or Mary Willis 
had been appointed the administrator of that estate. 
In fact, if Stephen Willis had a will, and that will left 
his property to persons other than Chris and Mary Wil-
lis, these two plaintiffs would not have even been ben-
eficiaries of any moneys that might have been 
recovered on the decedent’s §1983 claim. 

 In other words, unlike the scenario underlying 
this Court’s comments in the Hensley opinion, this is 
not a case where a single plaintiff presented multiple 
claims based on “a common core of facts or . . . related 
legal theories.” Rather, this is a case where different 
plaintiffs (in reality, if not technically) presented sepa-
rate claims based on a common core of facts but 
distinct legal theories. This does not seem to be what 
this Court had in mind when it discussed in Hensley 
the circumstances in which work done on non-§1983 
claims could be considered in awarding fees under 42 
U.S.C. §1988. 

 Allowing the district courts to consider, in deter-
mining the amount of fees to be awarded to a plaintiff, 
the success achieved by other plaintiffs on separate 
claims, seems to be at odds with this Court’s decision 
in Farrar. 

 In that opinion, this Court noted that while “a 
nominal damages award does render a plaintiff a 
prevailing party by allowing him to vindicate” his or 
her infringed constitutional rights, “the awarding of 
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nominal damages also highlights the plaintiff ’s failure 
to prove actual, compensable injury.” Farrar, supra, 
506 U.S. 103, 115 (citations omitted). “Whatever the 
constitutional basis for substantive liability, damages 
awarded in a §1983 action must always be designed 
to compensate injuries caused by the [constitutional] 
deprivation.” Ibid. (citation and internal quotation 
marks omitted). This Court’s focus thus was on com-
pensation for the constitutional deprivation. 

 In Maher v. Gagne, 448 U.S. 122, 132 fn. 15 (1980), 
this Court provided an explanation for why it may be 
appropriate to look to the success achieved in non-
§1983 claims in determining the fees to be awarded un-
der §1988. 

 The legislative history makes it clear that 
Congress intended fees to be awarded where 
a pendent constitutional claim is involved, 
even if the statutory claim on which the plain-
tiff prevailed is one for which fees cannot be 
awarded under the Act. . . . In some instances, 
however, the claim with fees may involve a 
constitutional question which the courts are 
reluctant to resolve if the non-constitutional 
claim is dispositive. In such cases, if the claim 
for which fees may be awarded meets the 
“substantiality” test, attorney’s fees may be 
allowed even though the court declines to en-
ter judgment for the plaintiff on that claim, so 
long as the plaintiff prevails on the non-fee 
claim arising out of a “common nucleus of op-
erative fact.” 

Ibid. (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). 
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 This Court concluded that “such a fee award ‘fur-
thers the Congressional goal of encouraging suits to 
vindicate constitutional rights without undermining 
the longstanding judicial policy of avoiding unneces-
sary decision of important constitutional issues.’ It is 
thus an appropriate means of enforcing substantive 
rights under the Fourteenth Amendment.” Id. at 133 
(citation and footnote omitted). Again, this Court’s fo-
cus was on the vindication of constitutional rights. 

 The damage award made to the plaintiffs in this 
action on their wrongful death cause of action is com-
pletely divorced from the vindication of the decedent’s 
constitutional rights or from providing compensation 
to him (through his successors in interest) for the 
constitutional deprivation he suffered. But in that 
case, how can this separate and distinct damage award 
appropriately provide the measure of the success 
achieved on the constitutional claim for the purpose of 
awarding attorney’s fees under 42 U.S.C. §1988? This 
Court needs to grant certiorari in this case to resolve 
that question. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

CONCLUSION  

 For all these reasons, the petitioners urge this 
Court to grant this petition for writ of certiorari to 
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the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Cir-
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cuit Judges. 

 1. The district court did not err by denying de-
fendants’ motion for judgment as a matter of law. 
Given the evidence presented at trial, a reasonable 
jury could conclude that Officer Catton used excessive 
force in firing the final shot or shots. While we ac- 
knowledge that the jury heard conflicting accounts as 
to whether Willis was reaching for his gun when Of-
ficer Catton fired, it was for the jury to decide which 
version of events to believe. The jury could reasonably 
have concluded from the evidence that Willis was not 
reaching for his gun and that Officer Catton’s use of 
force was therefore unreasonable.1 

 The district court did not err by denying Officer 
Catton qualified immunity. The evidence presented at 
trial established that if Willis had been reaching for 
the gun, deadly force was justified. Since the jury con-
cluded that the force used was not justified, it must 
have concluded that Willis was not reaching for the 

 
 ** The Honorable Michael J. Melloy, United States Circuit 
Judge for the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, sitting 
by designation. 
 1 We agree with the district court that the jury must have 
concluded that the officers’ use of force was objectively reasonable 
during the initial shots and main volley of gunfire, but that Of-
ficer Catton’s decision to fire the final shot or shots was not objec-
tively reasonable. 
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gun and thus did not pose an immediate threat of harm 
when Officer Catton fired. 

 The constitutional right to be free from the use of 
deadly force absent an immediate threat of harm to of-
ficers or others was clearly established at the time Of-
ficer Catton acted. See Tennesee v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1, 
11 (1985); Wilkinson v. Torres, 610 F.3d 546, 550 (9th 
Cir. 2010). All reasonable officers would have known 
that using deadly force on an individual who poses no 
immediate threat to the officer or others violates the 
Fourth Amendment. 

 2. The district court did not abuse its discretion 
by admitting testimony from plaintiffs’ use-of-force ex-
pert. The expert opined that Willis no longer posed a 
threat when Officer Catton fired the final shot or shots, 
and acknowledged during cross-examination that if 
Willis had been reaching for the gun, deadly force 
would have been appropriate. As noted above, the 
jury was responsible for resolving whether Willis was 
reaching for the gun at the time Officer Catton fired. 
Allowing plaintiffs’ expert to respond to hypotheticals 
based on evidence presented at trial was not an abuse 
of discretion. 

 3. The district court did not abuse its discretion 
by declining to submit special interrogatories to the 
jury. See Ruvalcaba v. City of Los Angeles, 167 F.3d 514, 
521 (9th Cir. 1999). The district court, in its pre-trial 
order, set November 22, 2013, as the deadline to submit 
jury instructions and verdict forms. Defendants did not 
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raise the issue of special interrogatories until just be-
fore the close of their case-in-chief on December 13, 
2013, and they did not submit proposed interrogatories 
until December 14, 2013. Given the lateness of the re-
quest and the fact that the verdict form already re-
quired a jury determination of all factual issues 
essential to the judgment, the district court did not 
abuse its discretion by refusing to submit defendants’ 
untimely special interrogatories to the jury. See Landes 
Construction Co. v. Royal Bank of Canada, 833 F.2d 
1365, 1374 (9th Cir. 1987). 

 4. The district court did not abuse its discretion 
by admitting evidence of Willis’ alcohol intoxication. 
Evidence of Willis’ intoxication was relevant to the 
jury’s assessment of whether to believe the officers’ 
testimony that Willis disregarded their orders to drop 
his gun and instead aimed it at them. See Boyd v. City 
& County of San Francisco, 576 F.3d 938, 944 (9th Cir. 
2009). 

 The district court abused its discretion by ad- 
mitting evidence of Willis’ marijuana use. Defendants 
presented no evidence indicating that Willis had con-
sumed marijuana in the 72 hours before the shooting 
and no evidence linking Willis’ marijuana use to his 
disputed behavior. The error in admitting this evi-
dence, however, was harmless. Because defendants pre-
sented no evidence of a causal relationship between 
Willis’ marijuana use and his behavior on the night in 
question, no reasonable probability exists that the jury 
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relied on this evidence in finding Willis 80% contribu-
torily negligent. See Obrey v. Johnson, 400 F.3d 691, 
699-701 (9th Cir. 2005). 

 5. The district court erred by precluding plain-
tiffs from seeking damages for Willis’ pre-death pain 
and suffering. The court, relying on California state 
law, ruled that such damages were not recoverable. 
Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 377.34. Shortly after entry of 
judgment, this court held that § 377.34 limits recovery 
too severely to be consistent with the deterrence policy 
underlying 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and that plaintiffs may 
therefore seek damages for pre-death pain and suf- 
fering under § 1983 when the decedent’s death was 
caused by the violation of federal law. Chaudhry v. City 
of Los Angeles, 751 F.3d 1096, 1105 (9th Cir. 2014). We 
must accordingly vacate the judgment on plaintiffs’ 
§ 1983 claim and remand the case to the district court 
so that plaintiffs may present evidence in support of 
their claim for pre-death pain and suffering dam- 
ages. As noted earlier, we agree with the district court 
that the jury’s verdict reflects an implicit finding that 
the officers’ use of force was objectively reasonable 
throughout their encounter with Willis, except for the 
final shot or shots fired by Officer Catton. Therefore, 
on remand, plaintiffs will be limited to recovering only 
those pre-death pain and suffering damages caused by 
Officer Catton’s final shot or shots. 

 6. The district court did not commit reversible 
error during jury selection. Plaintiffs contend they 
were forced to use peremptory strikes to correct the 
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district court’s erroneous denial of their for-cause chal-
lenges. We need not determine whether the district 
court erred in failing to dismiss the challenged jurors 
for cause because a party is not constitutionally harmed 
as a result of using peremptory strikes to cure a for-
cause mistake. United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 
U.S. 304, 317 (2000). Since the allegedly biased jurors 
did not ultimately sit on the jury, a new trial is not war-
ranted. See id. at 316. 

 7. The district court properly denied plaintiffs’ 
motion for a new trial, which asserted that there was 
no factual support for the jury’s comparative negli-
gence finding. A reasonable jury could conclude, based 
on its assessment of the entire encounter between the 
officers and Willis, that Willis was 80% responsible for 
his injuries. 

 8. With respect to the district court’s ruling on 
attorney’s fees, we reject defendants’ argument that 
the district court erred by awarding plaintiffs fees for 
work performed on the prior appeal. Plaintiffs were not 
required to file a motion requesting fees at the conclu-
sion of the prior appeal because at that point they were 
not prevailing parties under 42 U.S.C. § 1988; all they 
had won on appeal was the right to pursue their claims 
at trial. Thus, any motion for attorney’s fees at that 
time would have been premature. See Tribble v. Gard-
ner, 860 F.2d 321, 328 (9th Cir. 1988). We also reject 
defendants’ argument that the district court erred by 
considering plaintiffs’ pendent state law claims when 
evaluating the degree of success plaintiffs achieved in 
the litigation. See Farrar v. Hobby, 506 U.S. 103, 112-13 
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(1992); Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 434-37 (1983). 
Defendants’ remaining challenges to the district court’s 
fee award are likewise without merit. 

 We decline to rule on plaintiffs’ contentions that 
the district court abused its discretion by reducing 
counsel’s hourly rates and by imposing an across-the-
board 35% reduction. The district court should revisit 
these issues following the limited re-trial on the issue 
of pre-death pain and suffering damages. The court 
predicated the 35% reduction at least in part on the 
degree of success plaintiffs achieved in the litigation, 
which could change depending on the extent to which 
plaintiffs recover damages for Willis’ pre-death pain 
and suffering. 

 AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED IN PART, 
and REMANDED. 

 The parties shall bear their own costs. 

 Defendants’ Motion to Strike Plaintiffs’ Supple-
mental Letter Brief filed January 13, 2016, is DE-
NIED. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
CHRIS WILLIS, MARY 
WILLIS, INDIVIDUALLY 
AND SUCCESSORS 
IN INTEREST TO 
STEPHEN WILLIS, 

  Plaintiffs, 

  vs. 

CITY OF FRESNO, OFFICER 
GREG CATTON, and 
OFFICER DANIEL ASTACIO, 

  Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.
1:09-CV-01766-BAM

SPECIAL 
VERDICT FORM 

(Filed Dec. 17, 2013)

 
 We, the jury in the above-entitled case, find the fol-
lowing special verdict on the questions submitted to 
us: 

 Unless a different standard of proof is specifically 
called for by a question, the following questions are to 
be considered under the “preponderance of the evi-
dence” standard. 

 
 Question No. 1 

 Did Officer Catton and/or Officer Astacio use ex-
cessive force against Stephen Willis in violation of his 
Fourth Amendment Constitutional rights? 
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 Officer Catton _____ YES 

 Officer Astacio _____ YES 

_____ NO

_____ NO
 
 If your answer to Question 1 is “yes” as to any of 
the above defendants, then answer Question No. 2 as 
to that defendant(s) only. 

 If your answer to Question 1 is “no” as to all of the 
defendants, go to Question No. 4. 

 
 Question No. 2 

 As to any defendant you answered “yes” to in re-
sponse to Question No. 1, was the excessive force used 
by that defendant the moving force in causing damage 
to Stephen Willis? 

 Officer Catton _____ YES 

 Officer Astacio _____ YES 

_____ NO

_____ NO
 
 If your answer to Question No. 2 is “yes,” answer 
Question No. 3. 

 If your answer to Question No. 2 is “no,” go to 
Question No. 4. 

 
 Question No. 3 

 If you answered “yes” as to any defendant in Ques-
tion No. 2, you must award an amount of nominal dam-
ages not to exceed $1.00. What is your award of 
nominal damages as to any defendant you answered 
“yes” to in Question No. 2? 
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 Officer Catton 

 Officer Astacio 

$_1.00___ 

$________ 
 
Go to Question No. 4. 

 
 Question No. 4 

 Was Officer Catton and/or Officer Astacio negli-
gent? 

 Officer Catton _____ YES 

 Officer Astacio _____ YES 

_____ NO

_____ NO
 
 If your answer to Question No. 4 is “yes” as to any 
of the above defendants, then answer Question No. 5 
as to that defendant(s) only. 

 If your answer to Question No. 4 is “no” as to all 
defendants, and you answered “yes” to Question No. 2 
as to any defendant, go to Question No. 11. 

 If your answer to Question No. 4 is “no” as to all 
defendants, and you either did not answer, or answered 
“no” to Question No. 2 as to all defendants, sign and 
return this verdict. 

 
 Question No. 5 

 As to any defendant you answered “yes” to in re-
sponse to Question No. 4, was this particular defen- 
dant’s negligence a substantial factor in causing harm 
to plaintiffs? 
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 Officer Catton _____ YES 

 Officer Astacio _____ YES 

_____ NO

_____ NO
 
 If your answer to Question No. 5 is “yes” as to any 
of the above defendants, then answer Question 6. 

 If your answer to Question No. 5 is “no” as to all 
defendants, and you answered “yes” to Question No. 2 
as to any defendant, go to Question No. 11. 

 If your answer to Question No. 5 is “no” as to all 
defendants, and your either did not answer or an-
swered “no” as to all defendants for Question No. 2, 
sign and return this verdict. 

 
 Question No. 6 

 Answer this Question only if you have answered 
“yes” to Question No. 5 as to any defendant. As to any 
defendant you answered “yes” to in response to Ques-
tion No. 5, what amount of damages for the loss of love, 
companionship, comfort, and care of Stephen Willis are 
Plaintiffs entitled to recover from that particular de-
fendant: 

 Officer Catton 

 Officer Astacio 

$_1.5 Million_ 

$____________ 
 
 Answer Question 7 
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 Question No. 7 

 Answer this Question only if you have answered 
“yes” to Question No. 5 as to any defendant. As to any 
defendant you answered “yes” to in response to Ques-
tion No. 5, what amount of funeral and burial expenses 
are Plaintiffs entitled to recover from that particular 
defendant: 

 Officer Catton 

 Officer Astacio 

$_10,224____ 

$___________ 
 
 Answer Question 8. 

 
 Question No. 8 

 Was Stephen Willis negligent? 

 YES _____  NO _____  
 
 If your answer to Question No. 8 is “yes,” then an-
swer Question No. 9. 

 If your answer to Question No. 8 is “no” and your 
answer to Question No. 2 is “yes” as to any defendant, 
then go to Question No. 11. 

 If your answer to Question No. 8 is “no,” and you 
either did not answer, or answered “no” to Question No. 
2 as to all defendants, go to Question No. 12. 
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 Question No. 9 

 Was Stephen Willis’s negligence a substantial fac-
tor in causing his harm? 

 YES _____  NO _____  
 
 If your answer to Question No. 9 is “yes,” then an-
swer Question No. 10. 

 If your answer to Question No. 9 is “no” and your 
answer to Question No. 2 is “yes” as to any defendant, 
then go to Question No. 11. 

 If your answer to Question No. 9 is “no,” and you 
either did not answer, or answered “no” to Question No. 
2 for all defendants, go to Question No. 12. 

 
 Question No. 10 

 As to the defendant(s) you responded “yes” to in 
Question Number 5, and as to Stephen Willis if you an-
swered “yes” to Question Number 9, what percentage 
of responsibility for Stephen Willis’s death do you as-
sign to the following: 

 Stephen Willis __80___% 

 Officer Catton __20___% 

 Officer Astacio _______% 
 
 If you answered “yes” to either Question No. 2 as 
to any defendant, go to Question No. 11. 
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 If you did not answer or answered “no” to Question 
No. 2 for all defendants, go to Question No. 12. 

 
 Question No. 11 

 Answer this question only if you have answered 
“yes” as to any defendant in Question No. 2, and only 
as to those defendants you have answered “yes” to in 
Question No. 2. 

 By a preponderance of the evidence, do you find 
that those defendant(s) acted with malice, oppression 
or reckless disregard of Stephen Willis’s rights? 

 Officer Catton _____ YES 

 Officer Astacio _____ YES 

_____ NO

_____ NO
 
 Go to Question No. 12 only if you answered “yes” 
to Question No. 5 as to any Defendant. 

 If you answered “no” to question No. 5, sign and 
return this verdict. 

 
 Question No. 12 

 Answer this question only if you have answered 
“yes” as to any defendant in Question No. 5, and only 
as to those defendants you have answered “yes” to in 
Question No. 5. 

 By clear and convincing evidence, do you find that 
those defendant(s) acted with malice, oppression or 
reckless disregard of Stephen Willis’s rights? 
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 Officer Catton _____ YES 

 Officer Astacio _____ YES 

_____ NO

_____ NO
 
 When this Special Verdict Form is completed, the 
jury foreperson shall sign and date the form below: 

Robert B. Rogers  12/17/2013
(Signature of jury foreperson)  (Date form signed)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 
CHRIS WILLIS, MARY 
WILLIS, INDIVIDUALLY 
AND SUCCESSORS 
IN INTEREST TO 
STEPHEN WILLIS, 

  Plaintiffs, 

  vs. 

CITY OF FRESNO, OFFICER 
GREG CATTON, and 
OFFICER DANIEL ASTACIO, 

  Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.
1:09-CV-01766-BAM

ORDER DENYING
DEFENDANTS’ 
MOTION FOR 
JUDGMENT AS A 
MATTER OF LAW 
UNDER RULE 50(a)
(Doc. 224); AND 
DENYING OFFICER
CATTON QUALI-
FIED IMMUNITY 

(Filed Jan. 31, 2014)
 
I. INTRODUCTION 

 On March 28, 2009, Stephen Willis was fatally 
shot by Defendants Greg Catton and Daniel Astacio, 
who were Officers with the Fresno Police Department. 
Stephen Willis’s parents, Chris and Mary Willis (“Plain-
tiffs”), allege that Stephen Willis’s Fourth Amendment 
rights were violated as a result of the shooting. Plain-
tiffs further allege that Officer Catton and Officer 
Astacio were negligent in causing the death of Stephen 
Willis. 

 Trial commenced on December 4, 2013. At the con-
clusion of plaintiff ’s case-in-chief, Defendants made a 
Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law pursuant to 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(a)(1). The Court took the motion 
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under submission and allowed the trial to continue. 
(Doc. 224.) Plaintiffs filed their opposition on Decem-
ber 11, 2013. (Doc. 226.) The Court did not rule on the 
Rule 50(a) motion prior to the matter being submitted 
to the jury. 

 After a ten-day jury trial, the jury returned a ver-
dict in favor of defendant Officer Daniel Astacio and 
against Plaintiffs. The jury also returned a verdict in 
favor of plaintiffs and against Officer Catton. The jury 
found that Officer Catton used excessive force in viola-
tion of Stephen Willis’s Fourth Amendment rights, and 
further, found that Officer Catton was negligent in 
causing the death of Stephen Willis. The jury also 
found Stephen Willis comparatively negligent in con-
tributing to his death, and was eighty percent respon-
sible for his injuries. 

 After the jury returned their verdict, the Court re-
quested additional briefing on whether qualified im-
munity is appropriate for Officer Catton. (Doc. 235.)1 
Defendants filed their supplemental brief in support of 
qualified immunity on January 9, 2014. (Doc. 244.) 

 
 1 ECF document 244 is entitled “Defendants’ Supplemental 
Briefing Regarding Qualified Immunity For Officer Greg Catton 
and Renewed Motion For Judgment As A Matter of Law Pursuant 
to Rule 50(b).” Defendants subsequently filed another Motion un-
der Rule 50(b), as well as a Motion for Relief From the Final Judg-
ment of the Court pursuant to Rule 60(b)(6) on January 14, 2014. 
(Doc. 245.) Plaintiffs filed objections to this latter filing, arguing 
it was procedurally improper. (Doc. 246.) At this time, the Court 
does not address the issues raised Rule 50(b) or Rule 60(b)(6). The 
Court disposes of the Rule 50(a) motion taken under submission 
and addresses the issue of qualified immunity. 
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Plaintiffs filed their opposition on January 16, 2014. 
(Doc. 248.) 

 Currently pending before the Court is the Rule 
50(a) motion which was taken under submission dur-
ing trial. Also pending is the legal issue of whether Of-
ficer Catton is entitled to qualified immunity. Having 
carefully considered the parties’ briefs and the entire 
record in this case, Defendants’ Rule 50(a) Motion for 
Judgment as a Matter of Law is DENIED. For the rea-
sons that follow, the Court finds that Officer Catton is 
not entitled to qualified immunity. The Court discusses 
the Rule 50(a) motion and qualified immunity as fol-
lows. 

 
II. DISCUSSION 

A. Rule 50(a) Motion 

1. Legal Standard for a Rule 50(a) motion 

 Rule 50(a) permits a party to move for judgment 
as a matter of law after the opposing party has been 
fully heard and prior to the submission of the case to 
the jury. Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(a)(1). Rule 50(a) allows the 
trial court to remove cases or issues from the jury’s 
consideration “when the facts are sufficiently clear 
that the law requires a particular result.” Weisgram v. 
Marley Co., 528 U.S. 440, 448 (2000) (quoting 9A C. 
Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure 
§ 2521, p. 240 (2d ed.1995)). 

 In deciding a motion brought pursuant to Rule 
50(a), a court reviews all of the evidence and draws all 
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reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party. 
Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 
133, 150 (2000); City Solutions v. Clear Channel Com-
muns., Inc., 365 F.3d 835, 839 (9th Cir. 2004). A court is 
not permitted to make credibility determinations or 
weigh the evidence. Reeves, 530 U.S. at 150; Krechman 
v. County of Riverside, 723 F.3d 1104, 1109-1110 (9th 
Cir. 2013). A district court can grant a Rule 50(a) mo-
tion for judgment as a matter of law only if there is no 
legally sufficient basis for a reasonable jury to find for 
that party on that issue.” Krechman, 723 F.3d at 1109-
1110 (9th Cir. 2013); Pavao v. Pagay, 307 F.3d 915, 918 
(9th Cir. 2002) (The salient inquiry is whether the evi-
dence “permits only one reasonable conclusion. . . .”); 
see also, Hall v. Consol. Freightways Corp., 337 F.3d 
669, 672 (6th Cir. 2003) (“A dismissal pursuant to Rule 
50(a) is improper where the nonmovant presented suf-
ficient evidence to raise a material issue of fact for the 
jury.”) 

 
2. Denial of the Rule 50(a) Motion 

 During the trial, the Court took the Rule 50(a) mo-
tion under submission. After the jury returned its ver-
dict, defendants renewed the Rule 50(a) motion as to 
Officer Catton. 

 In light of the jury’s verdict, the Court cannot con-
clude that “a reasonable jury would not have a legally 
sufficient evidentiary bases to find for” plaintiffs and 
against Officer Catton. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 50(a)(1). The 
Court denies the motion pursuant to Rule 50(a). The 
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Court will consider the merits of the arguments of de-
fendants’ Rule 50(b) motion after the judgment is en-
tered. 

 
B. Legal Standard for Qualified Immunity 

in Excessive Force Cases 

 The Court now turns to the issue of whether Of-
ficer Catton is entitled to qualified immunity. 

 “[T]he Supreme Court set forth a two-part test for 
qualified immunity in excessive force cases. First, we 
examine whether a Fourth Amendment violation oc-
curred; second, we look to see whether the officers vio-
lated clearly established law.” Cameron v. Craig, 713 
F.3d 1012 (9th Cir. 2013) (quoting, Santos v. Gates, 287 
F.3d 846, 855 n. 12 (9th Cir. 2002)) (accord Saucier v. 
Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 121 S.Ct. 2151, 150 L.Ed.2d 272 
(2001)). 

 “[T]he first step in the analysis is an inquiry into 
the objective reasonableness of the officer’s belief in 
the necessity of his actions . . . there is no Fourth 
Amendment violation if the officer can satisfy this 
standard.” Wilkins v. City of Oakland, 350 F.3d 949, 
954 (9th Cir. 2003) The second step of the analysis in-
quires whether the officer was reasonable in his belief 
that his conduct did not violate the Constitution. “This 
step, in contrast to the first, is an inquiry into the rea-
sonableness of the officer’s belief in the legality of his 
actions.” Id. at 955. “Even if his actions did violate the 
Fourth Amendment, a reasonable but mistaken belief 
that his conduct was lawful would result in the grant 
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of qualified immunity.” Id. The Court has discretion to 
address either prong of the qualified immunity analy-
sis first. Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 129 S.Ct. 
808, 818, 172 L.Ed.2d 565 (2009). 

 
C. The Fourth Amendment Violation 

1. Legal Standard 

 The Court examines allegations of excessive force 
under the Fourth Amendment’s prohibition on unrea-
sonable seizures. Bryan v. MacPherson, 630 F.3d 805, 
823 (9th Cir. 2010). The Court inquires “whether the 
officers’ actions are ‘objectively reasonable’ in light of 
the facts and circumstances confronting them.” Id. 
(quoting Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 397, 109 
S.Ct. 1865, 104 L.Ed.2d 443 (1989)). The Court “must 
balance the nature and quality of the intrusion on the 
individual’s Fourth Amendment interests against the 
countervailing governmental interests at stake.” Id. 
(internal quotation marks omitted); see also Deorle v. 
Rutherford, 272 F.3d 1272, 1280 (9th Cir. 2001). 
“Stated another way, [the Court] must ‘balance the 
amount of force applied against the need for that 
force.’ ” Bryan, 630 F.3d at 823-24 (quoting Meredith v. 
Erath, 342 F.3d 1057, 1061 (9th Cir. 2003)). “This bal-
ance must be ‘judged from the perspective of a reason-
able officer on the scene, rather than with the 20/20 
vision of hindsight.’ ” Boyd v. Benton Cnty., 374 F.3d 
773, 779 (9th Cir. 2004) (quoting Graham, 490 U.S. at 
396, 109 S.Ct. 1865). 
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2. Relevant Facts Underlying the Fourth 
Amendment Violation 

 The parties dispute which facts are relevant to the 
jury’s Fourth Amendment verdict. Defendants argue 
the Fourth Amendment violation found by the jury was 
limited to the final shot(s) fired by Officer Catton as 
Stephen Willis lay on the ground. In support of this po-
sition, Defendants suggest the jury’s verdict neces-
sarily equates to the following findings: (1) Officer 
Catton’s and Officer Astacio’s use of force was reason-
able prior to the last shot(s) fired by Officer Catton; 
and (2) Fourth Amendment liability against Officer 
Catton was predicated on the final shot(s) only.2 Pro-
ceeding under this interpretation of the jury’s verdict, 
Defendants argue there was no Fourth Amendment vi-
olation because the uncontroverted evidence demon-
strated that Stephen Willis was reaching for his gun 
when Officer Catton fired the final shot(s). 

 Plaintiffs respond that the jury’s Fourth Amend-
ment verdict was not necessarily limited to Officer 
Catton’s final shot(s). Plaintiffs argue that it would be 
improper to speculate on the factual basis for the jury’s 
verdict, as the verdict could have been predicated on 

 
 2 Defendants also argue the jury’s verdict demonstrates the 
jury necessarily made other factual findings, including that 
Stephen Willis “pulled his gun out of his holster,” “pointed his gun 
at the officers,” and “fired the gun towards one or both officers.” 
However, the Court need not address these arguments, as the 
jury’s specific factual findings prior to Officer Catton’s final 
shot(s) are irrelevant to the qualified immunity analysis. 
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the totality of Officer Catton’s conduct or a combina-
tion of actions alleged to have violated Stephen Willis’s 
Fourth Amendment rights. In the alternative, Plain-
tiffs argue that even if the jury’s verdict was limited to 
Officer Catton’s final shot(s), the evidence presented at 
trial supports a finding that Officer Catton’s final 
shot(s) violated Stephen Willis’s Fourth Amendment 
rights. 

 The Court finds that defendants correctly infer 
that Fourth Amendment liability was predicated on 
Officer Catton’s final shot(s). A Court is permitted to 
“dr[aw] inferences from the verdicts to determine the 
issues that the presumptively rational jurors must 
have determined, and then used those implicit findings 
of fact as the basis for judgment as to certain issues.” 
Westinghouse Elec. Corp., v. General Circuit Breaker & 
Elec. Supply. Inc., 106 F. 3d 894, 901 (9th Cir. 1997). 
Where “it is possible to examine the pattern of jury ver-
dicts and logically determine what facts a rational ju-
ror must have found in order to reach those verdicts,” 
Id. at 902, the Court “must assume the jury found cer-
tain facts. . . .” Id. at 901. 

 Based upon the verdict and the evidence, this 
Court concludes the jury necessarily made three find-
ings of fact: (1) Stephen Willis posed a dangerous 
threat justifying use of deadly force when Officer Cat-
ton and Officer Astacio initially encountered and fired 
upon Stephen Willis; (2) Stephen Willis continued to 
pose a dangerous threat justifying use of deadly 
force when he retreated behind the van until Officer 
Catton left his firing position to join Officer Astacio; 
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and (3) Stephen Willis did not pose a dangerous threat 
justifying use of deadly force at the time Officer Catton 
fired the final shot(s). These findings of fact were nec-
essarily determined by the jury and essential to their 
judgment, Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 106 F. 3d at 902-
03, and the Court “can infer that the jury made this 
finding by viewing the jury’s verdict in light of the jury 
instructions.” A.D. v. California Highway Patrol, 712 
F.3d 446 (9th Cir. 2013); see also Jennings v. Jones, 499 
F.3d 2, 7 (1st Cir.2007) (holding that where defendants 
press qualified immunity after a general jury verdict, 
the court is required to view facts relevant to qualified 
immunity determination “in the light most favorable 
to the verdict”). 

 The Court concludes the jury made these findings 
based on the evidence. Prior to Officer Catton’s final 
shot(s), the actions and conduct of Officer Astacio and 
Officer Catton were virtually indistinguishable for 
Fourth Amendment purposes.3 Plaintiffs offered circum-
stantial evidence that both officers failed to identify 
themselves. However, identification by either officer 
would be sufficient to alert Stephen Willis to their 
presence, whereas a complete failure to identify them-
selves would apply to both officers equally. Whether a 

 
 3 The one exception is evidence concerning Officer Catton’s 
failure to follow Officer Astacio’s order to “follow him” once the 
initial shots were fired. Plaintiffs have not offered any legal rele-
vance, and the Court can discern none, of this circumstance’s 
relevance to the Fourth Amendment analysis. Whether Officer 
Catton followed Officer Astacio to a given firing position has no 
bearing on whether Officer Catton used excessive force in seizing 
Stephen Willis. 
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warning was provided or not, both officers fired upon 
Stephen Willis moments after Stephen Willis turned 
around with a holstered revolver in his left hand. In-
deed, the evidence presented was that Officer Astacio 
fired first. Both officers “sprayed multiple shots” at 
Stephen Willis such that both officers were required to 
reload at least once. Both officers assumed firing posi-
tions where neither knew where the other officer was, 
and both officers were firing shots that generally were 
in the other officer’s direction. 

 If the jury had determined Officer Catton’s con-
duct prior to the final shot(s) violated Stephen Willis’s 
Fourth Amendment rights, there is no logical basis for 
the jury’s countenance of Officer Astacio’s conduct. The 
only time the conduct of Officer Catton and Officer 
Astacio was qualitatively different was when Officer 
Catton moved to Officer Astacio’s firing position, Of-
ficer Astacio holstered his weapon to call for back up, 
and Officer Catton subsequently fired one or two more 
shots at Stephen Willis. 

 Lastly, the jury’s fording on Stephen Willis’s con-
tributory negligence demonstrates that Officer Catton’s 
liability for the negligence and Fourth Amendment 
claims was limited to the last shot(s). Stephen Willis 
was shot fourteen times, and the jury concluded that 
his contributory negligence was responsible for eighty 
percent of his injuries. As explained above, the jury 
found that Stephen Willis presented an immediate 
threat of danger at the initial encounter with Defen- 
dants as well as during the primary volley of gunfire. 
In other words, the jury necessarily determined that, 
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although Officer Catton and Officer Astacio shot Ste-
phen Willis twelve to thirteen times prior to the final 
shot(s), these injuries were not attributable to the un-
lawful conduct of Officer Catton and Officer Astacio. 
Instead, these injuries were attributable to the negli-
gence of Stephen Willis in creating an imminent risk 
of danger for Officers Catton and Astacio. The jury’s 
finding in this regard strongly suggests that the only 
injuries attributable to Officer Catton’s unlawful con-
duct was the final one or two shots. 

 
3. The Evidence Produced at Trial Sup-

ports the Jury’s Fourth Amendment 
Finding 

 Defendants argue the evidence produced at trial – 
Officer Catton’s “uncontroverted” testimony – demon-
strates deadly force was necessary at the time Officer 
Catton fired the final shot(s) because Stephen Willis 
was reaching for his gun. If the jury accepted Officer 
Catton’s testimony on this point, there is no dispute 
that Officer Catton’s final shot(s) would have been rea-
sonable. Indeed, all the evidence presented at trial, in-
cluding testimony presented by Plaintiff ’s own expert, 
dictated that if Stephen Willis had been reaching for 
his gun, Officer Catton was justified in using deadly 
force. However, because the jury found Officer Catton’s 
final shot(s) constituted excessive force, the jury neces-
sarily found that Stephen Willis was not reaching for 
his gun when Officer Catton fired the last shot(s). 
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 Defendants argue there is no evidence contradict-
ing Officer Catton’s testimony; thus, there was no basis 
for the jury to conclude that Officer Catton used exces-
sive force when he fired the last shot(s). 

 Defendants ignore significant testimonial evi-
dence to the contrary. The other officer involved in the 
shooting, Officer Astacio, testified that he believed the 
threat had “diminished” and that “the immediate 
threat [was] not there because he’s [sic] on the ground.” 
Officer Cerda testified that he saw Stephen Willis’s 
body prior to the final shots, and Stephen Willis was on 
the ground and twitching, which implies Stephen Wil-
lis was not reaching for the gun. A reasonable juror 
may have received these statements to support a con-
clusion that Stephen Willis was not moving when Of-
ficer Catton fired the final shot(s). 

 Significant other circumstantial evidence was pre-
sented that would permit the jury to disbelieve Officer 
Catton’s testimony that Stephen Willis was reaching 
for his gun prior to the last shot(s). By the time Office 
Catton fired the final shot(s), Stephen Willis had al-
ready been shot twelve-to-thirteen times. These shots 
were dispersed throughout his body, including all four 
limbs, his neck and torso. Stephen Willis’s condition 
would permit a reasonable juror to conclude that Ste-
phen Willis lacked both the physical capacity and situ-
ational awareness to have been reaching for his gun. A 
reasonable juror could have found this circumstance 
contradicted Officer Catton’s testimony. 
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 Officer Jacobo testified that, after the find shot(s), 
he heard Officer Catton “shout” “I can see the gun. I 
can see the gun.” A reasonable juror could have re-
ceived this testimony to indicate that Officer Catton 
did not, in fact, see Stephen Willis reaching for the gun 
before the final shot(s). Officer Jacobo also testified 
that, after the final shot(s), he heard Officer Catton ex-
claim in a “raised,” “excited” voice, that he put a bullet 
hole in Stephen’s back. Officer Reyes testified that Of-
ficer Catton was “smirking” after the shooting. A rea-
sonable juror could have received this testimony to 
indicate that Officer Catton’s use of force in those final 
moments was not the result of any threat presented by 
Stephen Willis. 

 Defendants attempt to discount this evidence by 
recasting it in a different light or offering other evi-
dence that tended to support Officer Catton’s testi-
mony. These efforts miss the point. The Court is not the 
fact-finder, nor is the Court in a position to dictate 
whose evidence is more persuasive. The jury heard 
conflicting evidence on the disputed factual circum-
stances surrounding Officer Catton’s final shot(s), and 
the jury found that Stephen Willis did not present an 
immediate threat of danger at that moment in time. 
Accordingly, this Court finds that, based upon the 
jury’s verdict, that Officer Catton’s actions were not ob-
jectively reasonable when Officer Catton shot Stephen 
Willis in the back as he lay on the ground. 
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D. The Fourth Amendment Right Was 
Clearly Established 

 For the second step in the qualified immunity 
analysis – whether the constitutional right was clearly 
established at the time of the conduct – we ask 
whether its contours were “ ‘sufficiently clear’ that 
every ‘reasonable official would have understood that 
what he is doing violates that right.’ ” Ashcroft v. al-
Kidd, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S.Ct. 2074, 2083, 179 L.Ed.2d 
1149 (2011) (quoting Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 
635, 640, 107 S.Ct. 3034, 97 L.Ed.2d 523 (1987)). While 
“[w]e do not require a case directly on point . . . existing 
precedent must have placed the statutory or constitu-
tional question beyond debate.” Id. 

 The Fourth Amendment right at issue here – the 
right to be free from the use of deadly force absent 
an immediate threat of harm to officers or others – 
is clearly established. See, Wilkinson v. Torres, 610 
F.3d 546, 550 (9th Cir. 2010) (“Case law has clearly es-
tablished that an officer may not use deadly force to 
apprehend a suspect where the suspect poses no im-
mediate threat to the officer or others”) (citing, Tennes-
see v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S.Ct. 1694, 85 L.Ed.2d 
1 (1985)). 

 Defendants’ analysis of this prong focuses on a fac-
tual account that is not supported by the jury’s verdict. 
Defendants argue that even if a Fourth Amendment 
Violation took place, a reasonable officer would have 
believed that if Stephen Willis was reaching for his 
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gun, deadly force was appropriate. Defendants’ fram-
ing of this issue is misguided. The jury’s verdict does 
not permit a finding that Stephen Willis was reaching 
for his revolver. Indeed, the jury’s verdict necessarily 
means the jury did not believe Stephen Willis was 
reaching for his revolver when Officer Catton fired the 
final shot(s). 

 Properly framed within the factual findings im-
plicit in the jury’s verdict, the question to be answered 
for the second prong of the qualified immunity analysis 
is this: would a reasonable police officer have known it 
was a constitutional violation to use deadly force on an 
individual who poses no immediate threat to the officer 
or others? It is axiomatic that the answer to this ques-
tion is “yes.” See, Wilkinson, 610 F.3d at 550. 

 Accordingly, Officer Catton is not entitled to qual-
ified immunity.4 

 
III. CONCLUSION 

 Based on the foregoing, the Court ORDERS as fol-
lows: 

1. The Rule 50(a) motion (Doc. 224) is DE-
NIED; 

 
 4 Defendants offer a final argument that Officer Catton is 
entitled to qualified immunity so long as he was not “plainly in-
competent.” Defendants have spun this undefined standard from 
the whole cloth. The language cited by Defendants is from a single 
opinion that was attempting to explain the practical effect of the 
qualified immunity doctrine, not to create a new legal standard 
altogether. The Court will not address this argument any further. 
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2. Defendant Officer Catton is not entitled 
to qualified immunity; and 

3. Judgment consistent with the jury ver-
dict may be entered in this matter. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: 
 January 31, 2014 

/s/ Barbara A. McAuliffe
 UNITED STATES

MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 
CHRIS WILLIS, MARY 
WILLIS, INDIVIDUALLY 
AND SUCCESSORS 
IN INTEREST TO 
STEPHEN WILLIS, 

  Plaintiffs, 

  vs. 

CITY OF FRESNO, OFFICER 
GREG CATTON, and 
OFFICER DANIEL ASTACIO, 

  Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.
1:09-CV-01766-BAM

JUDGMENT 

(Filed Jan. 31, 2014)

 
 JURY VERDICT: This action came before the 
Court for trial by jury. The issues have been tried and 
the jury has rendered its Special Verdict on December 
17, 2013. 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND 
DECREED that judgment is entered in accordance 
with the Special Verdict in favor of plaintiffs Chris Wil-
lis and Mary Willis, as Successors in Interest to Ste-
phen Willis and against defendant Greg Canon in the 
amount of $1.00. 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND 
DECREED that judgment is entered in accordance 
with the Special Verdict in favor of plaintiffs Chris 
Willis, Individually, and Mary Willis, Individually, and 
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against defendants Greg Canon and the City of Fresno 
in the amount of $302,044.80 (20% of $1,510,224.00). 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND 
DECREED that judgment is entered in accordance 
with the Special Verdict in favor of defendant Daniel 
Astacio and against plaintiffs Chris Willis and Mary 
Willis, Individually and as Successors in Interest to 
Stephen Willis. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: 
 January 31, 2014 

/s/ Barbara A. McAuliffe
 UNITED STATES

MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR 

THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 
CHRIS WILLIS, MARY 
WILLIS, INDIVIDUALLY 
AND SUCCESSORS 
IN INTEREST TO 
STEPHEN WILLIS, 

  Plaintiffs, 

  vs. 

CITY OF FRESNO, OFFICER 
GREG CATTON, and 
OFFICER DANIEL ASTACIO, 

  Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.
1:09-CV-01766-BAM 

ORDER ON 
PLAINTIFFS’ 
MOTION FOR 
ATTORNEY FEES 
AND EXPENSES; 

ORDER ON 
DEFENDANTS’ 
BILL OF COSTS, 
AND PLAINTIFFS’ 
MOTION FOR 
REVIEW OF 
DEFENDANTS’ 
BILL OF COSTS 

(Filed Jul. 17, 2014) 

 
I. INTRODUCTION 

 Currently before the Court is Plaintiffs’ Motion for 
Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses. (Doc. 299.) Also before 
the Court is Defendants’ Bill of Costs, for which Plain-
tiffs have sought judicial review. (Doc. 256, 257.) The 
matters were briefed extensively.1 (Doc. 256, 257, 258, 
267, 299, 302-311, 313, 314.) The Court deemed the 
matters suitable for decision without oral argument 

 
 1 Defendants have sought relief from their opposition dead-
line to file an amended declaration that addresses categories of 
Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees. (Doc. 308.) That request is GRANTED. 
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pursuant to Local Rule 230(g) and took the matters un-
der submission. (Doc. 271, 312.) 

 Having carefully considered the parties’ submis-
sions, as well as the entire record in this case, the 
Court (1) GRANTS IN PART Plaintiffs’ Motion for 
Attorney’s Fees and Costs and awards Plaintiffs 
$717,642.74 in attorney’s fees and $106,852.20 in ad-
ditional costs, and (2) ORDERS Defendants to bear 
their own costs. 

 
II. RELEVANT BACKGROUND 

 On March 28, 2009, Stephen Willis was fatally 
shot by Defendants Greg Catton and Daniel Astacio, 
who are Officers with the Fresno Police Department. 
Stephen Willis’s parents, Chris and Mary Willis 
(“Plaintiffs”), allege that Stephen Willis’s Fourth 
Amendment rights were violated as a result of the 
shooting. Plaintiffs further allege that Officer Catton 
and Officer Astacio were negligent in causing the 
death of Stephen Willis. 

 Following over four years of extensive litigation 
and a ten-day jury trial, the jury returned a verdict 
finding that Officer Catton used excessive force in vio-
lation of Stephen’s Fourth Amendment rights, and Of-
ficer Catton was negligent in causing Stephen’s death. 
The jury found Officer Astacio was not liable on Plain-
tiffs’ Fourth Amendment and negligence claims. On 
Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amendment claim, the jury awarded 
$1 in nominal damages. On Plaintiffs’ wrongful death 
claim, the jury awarded funeral and burial expenses in 
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the amount of $10,224.00, and further awarded Plain-
tiffs $1,500,000.00 in compensatory damages. The jury 
also made a finding of comparative negligence, and de-
termined that Stephen Willis was eighty percent re-
sponsible for his injuries. On January 31, 2014, the 
Court entered judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs, and 
awarded Plaintiffs $1 on Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amend-
ment claim, and $302,044.80 (20% of $1,510.224.00) on 
Plaintiffs’ wrongful death claim. (Doc. 251.) 

 As relevant to Plaintiffs’ Motion, the jury in- 
structions for the Fourth Amendment claims and the 
wrongful death claim were identical. Compare, Jury 
Instruction No. 19, 20, and 21 with Jury Instruction 
No. 24 and 25, Doc. 237. Thus, the jury decided these 
claims under identical legal standards.2 

 
 2 During the pretrial process, the parties and the Court ded-
icated considerable time determining the proper way to present 
Plaintiffs’ claims to the jury. Ultimately, the parties agreed that 
two of Plaintiffs’ claims (Plaintiffs’ wrongful death claim and 
Fourth Amendment claim) should be presented to the jury under 
identical legal standards. Compare, Jury Instruction No. 19, 20, 
and 21 with Jury Instruction No. 24 and 25, Doc. 237. 
 The only difference between these claims concerned the dam-
ages that could be awarded. During the pretrial process, it was 
disputed whether Plaintiffs could recover damages for Stephen’s 
pain and suffering under the Fourth Amendment claim. Following 
the uniform decisions of courts in the Eastern District of Califor-
nia, the Court precluded any evidence of Stephen’s pain and suf-
fering. (Order on Def. s’ Mot. In Limine, Doc. 197, 13: 1-7.) The 
parties and the Court agreed that the only damages Plaintiffs 
could recover on their Fourth Amendment claim were nominal, 
and if applicable, punitive damages. Recently, however, the Ninth 
Circuit decided Chaudhry v. City of Los Angeles, 751 F.3d 1096  
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 Following trial, Defendants submitted a Bill of 
Costs seeking $76,904.41 in costs.3 (Doc. 256.) Fol- 
lowing resolution of the parties’ post-trial motions, 
Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Attorneys’ Fees, seeking 
$2,590,173.75 in fees (loadstar fees of $1,726,782.50 
with a 1.5 multiplier), and costs in the amount of 
$197,490.57. (Doc. 299, Attach. 1.) 

 The parties present numerous arguments in oppo-
sition to their counterpart’s request for fees and costs.4 
The majority of these arguments concern specific fees 
and costs, which the Court addresses to the extent it is 
necessary below. Defendants’ primary argument, how-
ever, is that because Plaintiffs received only nominal 
damages on their Fourth Amendment claim, they are 
not entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees under 42 
U.S.C. § 1988.5 

 
(9th Cir. 2014), which held pain and suffering damages were re-
coverable. Id. at 1105. Nonetheless, Chaudhry is inapplicable to 
Plaintiff’s Motion. Plaintiff does not request the Court to alter its 
previous decision on the recoverability of pain and suffering dam-
ages or the jury’s verdict based on Chaudhry. 
 3 In their Reply Brief, Defendants acknowledge some of their 
requested costs were not permissible, and reduced their request 
to $43,339.08. Doc. 267, 9: 24-27. 
 4 The Court has thoroughly considered each argument raised 
by the parties. Although every argument is not addressed in this 
Order, each argument was considered. This Order discusses only 
those arguments necessary for the Court to reach its decision. 
 5 Defendants also argue that Plaintiffs’ Counsel is seeking 
“an improper double recovery” because Plaintiffs’ Counsel will 
presumably receive a contingency percentage of the jury’s award 
on Plaintiffs’ wrongful death claim. This argument is meritless. 
See, Van Gerwen v. Guarantee Mut. Life Co., 214 F.3d 1041, 1048  
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III. DISCUSSION 

A. Whether Plaintiff is Entitled to An 
Award of Attorneys’ Fees 

 In an action brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, 
“the court, in its discretion, may allow the prevailing 
party, other than the United States, a reasonable attor-
ney’s fee as part of the costs. . . .” 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b). A 
Section 1983 plaintiff who receives a nominal damage 
award is a prevailing party for purposes of Section 
1988. See Farrar v. Hobby, 506 U.S. 103, 112, 113 S.Ct. 
566, 121 L.Ed.2d 494 (1992). That does not mean, how-
ever, that such a plaintiff is necessarily entitled to an 
award of fees. See Farrar, 506 U.S. at 114, 113 S.Ct. 
566, 121 L.Ed.2d 494 (explaining that although the 
“technical nature of a nominal damages award . . . does 
not affect the prevailing party inquiry, it does bear on 
the propriety of fees awarded under § 1988”). 

 Defendants argue that under Farrar and Ninth 
Circuit authority interpreting Farrar6, an award of 
nominal damages under Section 1983 is insufficient to 
justify an award of attorneys’ fees. Plaintiffs respond 
that this case is distinguishable from Farrar because 

 
(9th Cir. 2000) (“A district court may not rely on a contingency 
agreement to increase or decrease what it determines to be a rea-
sonable attorney’s fee.”); Quesada v. Thomason, 850 F.2d 537, 543 
(9th Cir. 1988) (“We therefore reject the claim that a contingent-
fee agreement can justify lowering an otherwise reasonable lode-
star fee.”). 
 6 See, e.g., Benton v. Oregon Student Assistance Com’n, 421 
F.3d 901 (9th Cir. 2005); Wilcox v. City of Reno, 42 F.3d 550 (9th 
Cir. 1994); Mahach-Watkins v. Depee, 593 F.3d 1054 (9th Cir. 
2010). 
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Plaintiffs achieved significant success on their wrong-
ful death claim. Plaintiffs also argue that even if Plain-
tiffs’ Motion for Attorneys’ Fees were analyzed under 
Farrar, an award of fees would be appropriate. 

 In Farrar, the plaintiffs filed a lawsuit for $17 mil-
lion dollars against six defendants. After ten years of 
litigation, they obtained a nominal damage judgment 
of one dollar against one defendant. The district court 
nonetheless awarded the plaintiffs $280,000 in attor-
ney’s fees. The Supreme Court explained, “ ‘the most 
critical factor’ in determining the reasonableness of a 
fee award ‘is the degree of success obtained.’ ” Farrar, 
506 U.S. at 114, 113 S.Ct. 566 (quoting Hensley, 461 
U.S. at 436, 103 S.Ct. 1933). “In a civil rights suit for 
damages . . . the awarding of nominal damages [ ] high-
lights the plaintiff ’s failure to prove actual, compensa-
ble injury.” Id. at 115, 113 S.Ct. 566. In light of the 
nominal damages award, the Supreme Court ex-
plained that the Farrar litigation “accomplished little 
beyond giving petitioners ‘the moral satisfaction of 
knowing that a federal court concluded that [their] 
rights had been violated’ in some unspecified way.” Id. 
at 114, 113 S.Ct. 566 (quoting Hewitt v. Helms, 482 U.S. 
755, 762, 107 S.Ct. 2672, 96 L.Ed.2d 654 (1987)). Far-
rar concluded that “[w]hen a plaintiff recovers only 
nominal damages because of his failure to prove an es-
sential element of his claim for monetary relief, the 
only reasonable fee is usually no fee at all.” Id. at 115, 
107 S.Ct. 2672. (internal citation omitted.) “Farrar 
therefore teaches that an award of nominal damages is 
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not enough” to justify an award of attorney’s fees. Wil-
cox v. City of Reno, 42 F.3d 550, 555 (9th Cir. 1994); See 
also, Cummings v. Connell, 402 F.3d 936, 947 (9th Cir. 
2005) (“The guiding consideration for the district court 
is the difference between the damages sought and the 
amount recovered.”) 

 In a concurring opinion, Justice O’Connor recog-
nized two factors, in addition to the difference between 
the damages sought and the amount recovered, that 
would support an award of attorneys’ fees when only 
nominal damages are awarded. These factors include 
“the significance of the legal issue on which the plain-
tiff claims to have prevailed” and whether the success 
“accomplished some public goal. . . .” Farrar, 506 U.S. 
at 121, 113 S.Ct. 566 (O’Connor, J., concurring). The 
Ninth Circuit has adopted Justice O’Connor’s factors 
for resolving the degree of success inquiry under Sec-
tion 1988. See Cummings, 402 F.3d at 947. The parties’ 
briefing debates whether the O’Connor factors articu-
lated in Farrar justify an award of attorneys’ fees in 
this case. 

 A straight analysis of these factors, however, is not 
probative. Farrar is distinguishable because, here, 
Plaintiffs received a substantial award on the litiga-
tion as a whole, whereas the plaintiffs in Farrar re-
ceived only a nominal award of $1 in total. Farrar, 506 
U.S. at 107, 113 S.Ct. 566. Indeed, every case cited by 
Defendants applying the O’Connor factors concern cir-
cumstances where the total award was comprised of 
nominal damages. See, e.g., Benton v. Oregon Student 
Assistance Com’n, 421 F.3d 901 (9th Cir. 2005); Wilcox 
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v. City of Reno, 42 F.3d 550 (9th Cir. 1994); Mahach-
Watki ns v. Depee, 593 F.3d 1054 (9th Cir. 2010). The 
substantial award on Plaintiffs’ pendent state claim, 
which was based on the same standard as the Section 
1983 claim, distinguishes Plaintiffs from the plaintiffs 
in Farrar, as well as the plaintiffs in every cited Ninth 
Circuit case applying Farrar. 

 This Court has not located a single case applying 
a classic Farrar analysis to a case where nominal dam-
ages on a qualifying federal claim are coupled with 
substantial damages on a pendent state claim. The 
Ninth Circuit has not addressed the relevance of Far-
rar in situations such as the case at bar, and there is 
very little guidance from courts elsewhere. See, Jama 
v. Esmor Correctional Services, Inc., 577 F.3d 169, 177 
(3rd Cir. 2009) (noting that this issue, “supris[ingly,] 
. . . has been sparsely litigated elsewhere.”) Nonethe-
less, because of the important distinctions between 
this case and Farrar, the following discussion consid-
ers whether Plaintiffs’ success on their state law claim 
may independently inform the degree of their success 
under Section 1988. 

 
1. Plaintiffs’ Successful Wrongful Death 

Claim Informs the Degree of Plain-
tiffs’ Success Under Section 1988 

 Discussed supra, Plaintiffs succeeded on two 
claims: Plaintiffs were awarded significant monetary 
damages on their wrongful death claim; and Plaintiffs 
were awarded a nominal dollar on their Section 1983 
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claim. Both of these claims stem from identical facts, 
and were decided under identical legal standards. 
However, Plaintiffs’ ability to obtain attorneys’ fees un-
der Section 1988 concerns Plaintiffs’ success under 
Section 1983. The Court must determine whether a 
substantial victory on a pendent state claim, when cou-
pled with a nominal victory on a Section 1983 claim, 
operating under identical facts and law, informs the de-
gree of success under Section 1988. 

 The Court begins with the language of Section 
1988. Section 1988(b) states that “[i]n any action or 
proceeding to enforce a provision of section . . . 1983 . . . 
the court, in its discretion, may allow the prevailing 
party . . . a reasonable attorney’s fee. . . .” (emphasis 
added.) At least one court considering this issue has 
found that because the statute does not refer to 
“claims,” but instead provides that fees may be 
awarded “[in] any action or proceeding to enforce [a vi-
olation of Section 1983,]” that it is within a district 
court’s discretion to consider the success of the action 
or proceeding as a whole, including success on pendent 
state law claims. See, Jama v. Esmor Correctional Ser-
vices, Inc., 577 F.3d 169 (3rd Cir. 2009) (“We agree that 
the language of § 1988(b) seems to be sufficiently 
broad to endorse the inclusion of state claims in the 
consideration of overall success.”) Without controlling 
precedent adopting this interpretation, however, the 
Court turns to authority that more parallels the facts 
of this case. 

 The Courts of Appeals for the Second and Third 
Circuit have decided cases closer to the one before this 
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Court. In Bridges v. Eastman Kodak Co., 102 F.3d 56 
(2nd Cir. 1996), cert. denied sub nom., Yourdon, Inc. v. 
Bridges, 520 U.S. 1274, 117 S.Ct. 2453, 138 L.Ed.2d 211 
(1997), the plaintiffs alleged they were sexually har-
assed by their employer in violation of Title VII and an 
analogous New York antidiscrimination statute. Id. at 
57. The district court held a jury trial on the state 
claims and a concurrent bench trial on the Title VII 
claims. Id. The jury found that the defendants violated 
the state law and awarded plaintiffs substantial 
amounts for back pay and compensatory damages. Id. 
The court made parallel findings under Title VII, but 
awarded no monetary relief on the federal claims, spe-
cifically in order to avoid double recovery.7 Id. at 58. 
The district court awarded fees to the plaintiffs with-
out making any reduction for lack of success on the fed-
eral claim. Id. In so doing, Bridges distinguished 
Farrar because Farrar did not involve “a plaintiff who 
had achieved substantial success – and a large mone-
tary award – on pendent state-law claims.” Id. at 59.8 

 
 7 This circumstance draws a meaningful parallel to this case, 
and distinguishes both Bridges and this case from Farrar. In Far-
rar, the plaintiff ’s nominal damage award “highlight[ed the] 
plaintiff ’s failure to prove actual, compensable injury.” Farrar, 
506 U.S. at 14. That was not the case in Bridges, and that is not 
the case here. Plaintiffs did not fail to prove actual, compensable 
injury. The jury awarded Plaintiffs 1.5 Million dollars on their 
wrongful death claim – a claim which operated under an identical 
legal standard to the Section 1983 claim. Moreover, Plaintiffs re-
ceived the maximum relief available to them on the Section 1983 
claim (notwithstanding a separate analysis on punitive damages). 
 8 Additional parallels between Bridges and this case help 
Plaintiffs. In Bridges, the state and federal claims were brought  
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 The Bridges panel cited approvingly to an earlier 
case in the Second Circuit, Milwe v. Cavuoto, 653 F.2d 
80 (2nd Cir. 1981). In Milwe, the plaintiff was injured 
in an altercation with police officers. Id. at 81. The 
plaintiff brought a suit against several officers and su-
pervisors for compensatory and punitive damages un-
der 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and on pendent state law 
theories. After a trial, the jury found for the plaintiff 
against one defendant on a constitutional excessive 
force claim and a pendent state assault claim. The jury 
awarded $1 and $1,320 on these claims, respectively. 
The jury also found for the plaintiff against one other 

 
under employment discrimination statutes possessing related 
standards. Similarly, here, the elements for Plaintiffs’ Section 
1983 and wrongful death claims were identical. The only differ-
ence between Plaintiffs’ claims concerned the damages that could 
be awarded. While Bridges specifically declined to award damages 
on the federal claim in order to avoid double recovery, the same 
logic applies here. The only damages Plaintiffs could have ob-
tained on the Section 1983 claim is the nominal dollar Plaintiffs 
received. Thus, just as Bridges viewed the Title VII claim as a 
complete success, there is no reason, from a damages prospective, 
to view Plaintiffs’ Section 1983 verdict as anything less than a 
complete success. Defendants dispute this conclusion, arguing 
that Plaintiffs could have sought compensatory damages on their 
1983 claim in the form of lost earnings and damage to Stephen’s 
vehicle. Concerning lost earnings, Stephen was a student earning 
no income. Additionally, whether there was some minimal damage 
to Stephen’s vehicle does not inform the degree of Plaintiffs’ suc-
cess on the Section 1983 claim. This case was about the death of 
a young man, and whether the City of Fresno and Defendant Of-
ficers should be held liable. As Plaintiffs put it, “[s]eeking to re-
cover three-figures of property damage in a case focusing on 
Stephen’s death would have appeared petty.” Doc. 310, 4: 19-21. 
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defendant on a constitutional claim relating to her ar-
rest, and a claim for false arrest under state law. The 
jury awarded $1 in total for both of these claims. Id. 

 Similar to the Defendants here, the Milwe defen- 
dants argued that attorney’s fees were inappropriate 
since, inter alia, the only significant damages were 
awarded on the pendent state assault claim. Id. at 84. 
Milwe rejected this argument and found an award of 
fees appropriate. In so doing, Milwe noted that the Su-
preme Court has found that “attorney’s fees are avail-
able in cases ‘in which the plaintiff prevails on a wholly 
statutory, non-civil rights claim pendent to a substan-
tial constitutional claim.’ ” Id. (quoting Maher v. Gagne, 
448 U.S. 122, 132, 100 S.Ct. 2570, 2576, 65 L.Ed.2d 653 
(1980).) Milwe thus extended Supreme Court jurispru-
dence regarding pendent federal claims to pendent 
state claims. 

 The Court for Appeals for the Third Circuit has 
specifically considered Farrar’s effect on cases in which 
only nominal damages were awarded on the Section 
1983 claim, but substantial damages were awarded on 
a pendent state law claim. See Jama v. Esmor Correc-
tional Services, Inc., 577 F.3d 169 (3rd. Cir. 2009). In 
Jama, the plaintiffs alleged claims under Religious 
Freedom Restoration Act (“RFRA”), which allowed for 
the recovery of attorney’s fees, as well as several state 
law claims, which did not. Id. at 172. The Jama plain-
tiffs were awarded nominal damages on their RFRA 
claims, and significant compensatory damages on their 
pendent state law claims. 
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 The defendants in Jama argued that under Farrar 
no fee should be awarded because only nominal dam-
ages were awarded on the RFRA claim. Id. at 174. 
Jama first noted that “[t] he substantial award on her 
pendent state claim distinguishes her from the plain-
tiffs in Farrar . . . ” Id. at 177. Jama then determined 
whether “Jama’s success on her state law claim may 
independently inform the degree of her success under 
§ 1988.” Id. 

 Jama relied upon the Supreme Court’s decision in 
Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424, 103 S.Ct. 1933, 76 
L.Ed.2d 40 (1983). In Hensley, the Supreme Court de-
scribed how a district court should determine whether 
unsuccessful claims are sufficiently related to claims 
on which a plaintiff prevailed in order to include work 
on the unsuccessful claims in a fee award. Id. at 434, 
437, 103 S.Ct. 1933. In short, Hensley found that if suc-
cessful and unsuccessful claims share a common core 
of facts or were based on related legal theories, work 
done on unsuccessful claims may be included in a fee 
award.9 Jama found this standard presented a logical 
basis for determining whether a successful state claim 
should inform the degree of success inquiry on a qual-
ifying federal claim. Jama, 577 F.3d at 179-80 (“the 
Hensley standard should guide a district court’s con-
sideration of pendent state claims in litigation where 
a plaintiff has prevailed on a fee-eligible federal 
claim.”) In other words, Jama found that in order to 

 
 9 While Hensley provides the standard for determining 
whether claims are related under Section 1988, the case did not 
specifically involve pendent state claims. 
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determine whether a plaintiff has “succeeded” on a fee-
eligible federal claim that yielded only nominal dam-
ages, a court should consider the plaintiff ’s success on 
pendent state claims that involve a common core of 
facts or are based on related legal theories. 

 In the absence of any guidance from the Ninth Cir-
cuit, this Court is persuaded by the reasoning of the 
Second and Third Circuits, particularly that of the 
Third Circuit in Jama. The purpose of the O’Connor 
factors is to identify a way in which a plaintiff suc-
ceeded in the litigation, because nominal damages are 
viewed as a hollow victory that cannot, alone, support 
an award of fees under Section 1988. But when a plain-
tiff wins substantial relief on a pendent state law 
claim, the victory is far from hollow. There is no logical 
basis to apply a standard concerned with token victo-
ries to a case yielding significant monetary relief. 

 Indeed, notwithstanding the factors articulated in 
the O’Connor concurrence and adopted by the Ninth 
Circuit, the thrust of Farrar’s holding is that “[i]f a dis-
trict court chooses to award fees after a judgment for 
only nominal damages, it must point to some way in 
which the litigation succeeded, in addition to obtaining 
a judgment for nominal damage.” Wilcox v. City of 
Reno, 42 F.3d 550, 555 (9th Cir. 1994) (emphasis 
added.) While the O’Connor factors are generally used 
to determine whether the litigation succeeded in some 
other way, this is because Farrar and its progeny con-
cern cases where only nominal damages are awarded. 
Here, in addition to an award of nominal damages on 
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the Section 1983 claim, Plaintiffs “succeeded” by ob-
taining a judgment in the net amount of $302,044.80 
on the wrongful death claim. 

 To be clear, Section 1988 contemplates an award 
of fees for successfully prosecuting an action or pro-
ceeding for constitutional violations. It would be im-
proper to allow a successful state law claim having 
little in common with the constitutional claim to jus-
tify an award of fees under Section 1988, and this 
Court does not find that a successful state law claim 
necessarily informs the degree of success inquiry un-
der Section 1988. Success on unrelated state law 
claims is not the type of success contemplated by Far-
rar. See, Farrar, 506 U.S. at 114 (requiring that the 
“civil rights litigation materially alter the legal rela-
tionship between the parties.”) 

 Applying Hensley in situations such as the one be-
fore the Court, as the Third Circuit did in Jama, bal-
ances these concerns. If the successful state law claim 
shares a common core of facts or related legal theories 
with the fee-eligible federal claim, it is reasonable to 
conclude that the civil rights litigation succeeded in 
furthering the constitutional interests at issue. Under 
Hensley, therefore, if Plaintiffs’ Section 1983 claim 
and wrongful death claim share a common core of 
facts or are based on related legal theories, significant 
monetary success on Plaintiffs’ wrongful death claim, 
coupled with nominal damages on Plaintiffs’ 1983 
claim, permits Plaintiffs to seek attorneys’ fees Section 
1988. 
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 Here, Plaintiffs’ Section 1983 claim and wrongful 
death claim involve a common core of facts and 
are based on related legal theories. Indeed, the legal 
standard presented to the jury for these two claims are 
identical.10 The facts relevant to Plaintiffs’ Section 
1983 claim are identical to the facts relevant to Plain-
tiffs’ wrongful death claim. In short, the facts and law 
relevant to both claims are indistinguishable. Plain-
tiffs are entitled to recover their attorneys’ fees under 
Section 1988. 

 
2. Under Farrar, Plaintiff is Entitled 

to Section 1988 Fees 

 Even if this Court were to disregard the important 
distinctions between Farrar and this case, evaluating 
the O’Connor factors adopted by the Ninth Circuit sup-
ports an award of attorneys’ fees. See Cummings, 402 
F.3d 947 (9th Cir. 2005) (Recognizing and applying the 
O’Connor factors from Farrar: (1) difference between 
the damages sought and the amount recovered; (2) the 
significance of the legal issue on which plaintiff pre-
vailed; and (3) whether the plaintiff ’s success accom-
plished some public goal.) 

 First, it is true that in most nominal damage cases, 
the first factor – “[t]he difference between the amount 
recovered and the damages sought,” – will disfavor an 
award of fees. Here, however, Plaintiffs’ recovery was 

 
 10 Compare, Jury Instruction No. 19, 20, and 21 with Jury In-
struction No. 24 and 25, Doc. 237. 
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not limited to nominal damages. Plaintiffs netted 
$302,044.80 on the pendent state claim. 

 Defendants argue that because Plaintiffs asked 
the jury to award them $15,000,000 at trial, but only 
received $302,044.80, the first factor disfavors an 
award of fees. While there is a significant disparity be-
tween these two figures, parties routinely ask for the 
moon, with the understanding that a lesser verdict will 
be satisfactory. Every court to consider this factor un-
der Farrar was presented with circumstances where a 
party asked for a great deal, but only received nominal 
damages. That is not the case here. The disparity be-
tween Plaintiffs’ request to the jury, and the six-figure 
sum Plaintiffs ultimately obtained, is not the type of 
disparity contemplated by Farrar. The first O’Connor 
factor favors an award of attorneys’ fees. 

 The second factor – “the significance of the legal 
issue on which the plaintiff claims to have prevailed” – 
also favors an award of attorneys’ fees. Defendants ar-
gue this factor disfavors an award of fees because ex-
cessive force resulting in death is not a novel legal 
concept, and the jury’s verdict has no procedural sig-
nificance. This argument is misguided. The Ninth Cir-
cuit does not evaluate this factor in terms of whether 
the verdict alters the legal landscape. Rather, the 
Ninth Circuit considers the importance of the con- 
stitutional violation itself. See Mahach-Watkins v. 
Dupree, 593 F.3d 1054, 1062 (9th Cir. 2010) (“We have 
difficulty imagining a more important issue than the 
legality of state-sanctioned force resulting in death. It 
is obviously of supreme importance to anyone who 
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might be subject to such force. But it is also of great 
importance to a law enforcement officer who is placed 
in a situation where deadly force may be appropriate. 
We therefore conclude that the second factor supports 
the award of attorney’s fees.”); See also, Guy v. City of 
San Diego, 608 F.3d 582, 590 (9th Cir. 2010) (“we con-
clude that a fee award serves a purpose beneficial to 
society by encouraging the City of San Diego to ensure 
that all of its police officers are well trained to avoid 
the use of excessive force, even when they confront a 
person whose conduct has generated the need for po-
lice assistance”). The significance of the legal issue 
supports an award of fees. 

 Lastly, the third factor – whether the plaintiff “ac-
complished some public goal” – also supports an award 
of fees. Defendants argue this factor is not met because 
this case has done nothing to change the Fresno Police 
Department’s practices or procedures. However, the 
Ninth Circuit has consistently held that in excessive 
force cases, these verdicts benefit society as a whole be-
cause they “constitute a warning to law-enforcement 
officers not to treat civilians unconstitutionally.” Mo-
rales v. City of San Rafael, 96 F.3d 359, 365 (9th Cir. 
1996); See also, Mendez v. County of San Bernardino, 
540 F.3d 1109, 1128 (9th Cir. 2008) (“because success-
ful suits act as a deterrent to law enforcement and 
serve the public purpose of helping to protect the plain-
tiff and persons like him from being subjected to simi-
lar unlawful treatment in the future.”); Guy, 608 F.3d 
at 590 (9th Cir. 2010) (“we conclude that a fee award 
serves a purpose beneficial to society by encouraging 
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the City of San Diego to ensure that all of its police 
officers are well trained to avoid the use of excessive 
force, even when they confront a person whose conduct 
has generated the need for police assistance”); Ma-
hach-Watkins, 593 F.3d at 1062 (“It is possible that the 
CHP will continue, as it has said it will, to follow its 
current “policies and practices” concerning the use of 
force despite the jury’s conclusion that Officer Depee 
acted unconstitutionally. However, this does not mean 
that Mahach-Watkins’s § 1983 suit, and the jury’s ver-
dict that Depee used excessive force, accomplished no 
public goal. . . . it served the public purpose of helping 
to protect Morales and persons like him from being 
subjected to similar unlawful treatment in the fu-
ture.”) 

 Accordingly, even under a straight Farrar analy-
sis, Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees 
under Section 1988. 

 
B. Reasonable Attorneys’ Fees 

1. Legal Standard 

 “The Supreme Court has stated that the lodestar 
is the ‘guiding light’ of its fee-shifting jurisprudence, a 
standard that is the fundamental starting point in de-
termining a reasonable attorney’s fee.” Van Skike v. Di-
rector, Office of Workers’ Compensation Programs, 557 
F.3d 1041, 1048 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting City of Bur-
lingtion v. Dague, 505 U.S. 557, 562, 112 S.Ct. 2638, 120 
L.Ed.2d 449 (1992)); See also, Hensley, 461 U.S. at 433. 
Accordingly, a district court is required “to calculate an 
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award of attorneys’ fees by first calculating the ‘lode-
star’ before departing from it.” Camacho v. Bridgeport 
Financial, Inc., 523 F.3d 973, 982 (9th Cir. 2008) (quot-
ing Caudle v. Bristow Optical Co. Inc., 224 F.3d 1014, 
1028 (9th Cir. 2000)). “The ‘lodestar’ is calculated by 
multiplying the number of hours the prevailing party 
reasonably expended on the litigation by a reasonable 
hourly rate.” Camacho, 523 F.3d at 978 (quoting Ferl 
and v. Conrad Credit Corp., 244 F.3d 1145, 1149 n. 4 
(9th Cir. 2001)). Applying these standards, “a dis- 
trict court should exclude from the lodestar amount 
hours that are not reasonably expended because they 
are ‘excessive, redundant, or otherwise unnecessary.’ ” 
Van Gerwen v. Guarantee Mutual Life Co., 214 F.3d 
1041, 1045 (9th Cir. 2000) (quoting Hensley, 461 U.S. 
at 434). 

 The lodestar figure is presumptively reasonable. 
See Dague, 505 U.S. at 562 (“We have established a 
‘strong presumption’ that the lodestar represents the 
‘reasonable’ fee[.]”); Gonzalez, 729 F.3d at 1202 (“The 
product of this computation – the “lodestar figure” – is 
a “presumptively reasonable” fee under 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1988.”). However, “in rare cases, a district court may 
make upward or downward adjustments to the pre-
sumptively reasonable lodestar on the basis of those 
factors set out in Kerr v. Screen Extras Guild, Inc., 526 
F.2d 67, 69-70 (9th Cir. 1975), that have not been sub-
sumed in the lodestar calculation.” Camacho, 523 F.3d 
at 982. Those factors to be considered in making any 
adjustment to the presumptively reasonable lodestar 
include: 
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(1) the time and labor required, (2) the novelty 
and difficulty of the questions involved, (3) the 
skill requisite to perform the legal service 
properly, (4) the preclusion of other employ-
ment by the attorney due to acceptance of the 
case, (5) the customary fee, (6) whether the fee 
is fixed or contingent, (7) time limitations im-
posed by the client or the circumstances, (8) 
the amount involved and the results obtained, 
(9) the experience, reputation, and ability of 
the attorneys, (10) the ‘undesirability’ of the 
case, (11) the nature and length of the profes-
sional relationship with the client, and (12) 
awards in similar cases. 

Kerr, 526 F.2d at 70; See also, Ballen, 466 F.3d at 746 
(“After making that computation, courts then assess 
whether it is necessary to adjust the presumptively 
reasonable lodestar figure on the basis of twelve fac-
tors.”). 

 Finally, in applying these legal standards the 
Court is cognizant of the following overarching guid-
ance provided by the Ninth Circuit: 

Lawyers must eat, so they generally won’t 
take cases without a reasonable prospect of 
getting paid. Congress thus recognized that 
private enforcement of civil rights legislation 
relies on the availability of fee awards: “If pri-
vate citizens are to be able to assert their civil 
rights, and if those who violate the Nation[’s] 
fundamental laws are not to proceed with 
impunity, then citizens must have the oppor-
tunity to recover what it costs them to vindi-
cate these rights in court.” S. Rep. No. 94-1011, 
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at 2 (1976), as reprinted in 1976 U.S.C.C.A.N. 
5908, 5910. [fn. omitted] At the same time, fee 
awards are not negotiated at arm’s length, 
so there is a risk of overcompensation. A dis-
trict court thus awards only the fee that it 
deems reasonable. See Hensley v. Eckerhart, 
461 U.S. 424, 433, 103 S.Ct. 1933, 76 L.Ed.2d 
40 (1983). The client is free to make up any 
difference, but few do. As a practical matter, 
what the district court awards is what the 
lawyer gets. 

In making the award, the district court must 
strike a balance between granting sufficient 
fees to attract qualified counsel to civil rights 
cases, City of Riverside v. Rivera, 477 U.S. 561, 
579-80, 106 S.Ct. 2686, 91 L.Ed.2d 466 (1986), 
and avoiding a windfall to counsel, see Blum 
v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886, 897, 104 S.Ct. 1541, 
79 L.Ed.2d 891 (1984) (quoting S. Rep. No. 94-
1011, at 6 (1976)). The way to do so is to com-
pensate counsel at the prevailing rate in 
the community for similar work; no more, no 
less. 

Moreno, 534 F.3d at 1111. 

 With this guidance in mind, the Court turns to 
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and costs. 

 
2. Reasonable Hourly Rate 

 Fee applicants have the burden of producing evi-
dence that their requested fees are “in line with those 
prevailing in the community for similar services by 
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lawyers of reasonably comparable skill, experience and 
reputation.” Camacho, 523 F.3d at 980 (internal quota-
tion marks omitted). “[T]he relevant community is the 
forum in which the district court sits.” Davis v. Mason 
County, 927 F.2d 1473, 1488 (9th Cir. 1991). “Affidavits 
of the plaintiffs’ attorney[s] and other attorneys re-
garding prevailing fees in the community . . . are sat-
isfactory evidence of the prevailing market rate.” 
United Steelworkers of Am. v. Phelps Dodge Corp., 896 
F.2d 403, 407 (9th Cir. 1990). Once a fee applicant pre-
sents such evidence, the opposing party “has a burden 
of rebuttal that requires submission of evidence . . . 
challenging the accuracy and reasonableness of the . . . 
facts asserted by the prevailing party in its submitted 
affidavits.” Camacho, 523 F.3d at 980 (internal quota-
tion marks omitted). 

 Plaintiffs acknowledge that the prevailing rates in 
the Fresno community would normally establish the 
applicable rate for Plaintiffs’ Counsel, whose practice 
is located in San Francisco. However, Plaintiffs argue 
that because local counsel was unwilling, unable, and 
otherwise unavailable to properly handle this case, 
Plaintiffs’ Counsel is entitled to the prevailing rates in 
the San Francisco community. In support of this asser-
tion, Plaintiffs submit the declarations of several 
Fresno attorneys who, in summary, argue that very few 
attorneys in Fresno would have agreed to take Plain-
tiffs’ case. See, Doc. 299, Attach. 11-19. Accordingly, 
Plaintiffs argue they should receive fees ranging from 
$300-$700 per hour. 
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 Defendants respond there is insufficient support 
for this Court to conclude local attorneys would be un-
willing or unable to take this case. As such, Defendants 
submit that Plaintiffs are entitled to the prevailing 
rates in the Fresno community, which Defendants ar-
gue range from $150-$305 per hour. 

 Plaintiffs are not entitled to San Francisco rates. 
First, Plaintiffs have offered minimal evidence that 
San Francisco rates are necessary to the enforcement 
of civil rights cases in Fresno. See, Barjon v. Dalton, 
132 F.3d 496, 500 (9th Cir. 1997). “Without evidence 
that [Fresno] rates preclude the attraction of compe-
tent counsel, [Plaintiffs’] argument remains too theo-
retical to warrant departure from the local forum rule 
given in Davis.” Id. Plaintiffs’ evidence consists of dec-
larations from local attorneys who declare they would 
not consider taking on a case such as this one in most 
instances. See, Doc. 299, Attach. 11-19. However, it is 
not enough that local counsel is unwilling or unable to 
take a given case. Rather, departure from the local fo-
rum rule announced in Davis requires a fee applicant 
to demonstrate that without the requested rates, com-
petent counsel would be unwilling to take a particular 
case. Plaintiffs have not made this showing. 

 Second, this Court sees more than its fair share of 
excessive force cases prosecuted by local counsel. In-
deed, a cursory review of the Fresno Division’s docket 
over the last three years reveals an abundance of local 
counsel willing and able to prosecute excessive force 
cases. See, e.g., Raygoza et al. v. City of Fresno, et al., 
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13-cv-00322-LJO-SMS (E.D. Cal., Fresno Div.) (com-
plaint filed March 5, 2013); Berman v. County of 
Fresno, et al., 13-cv-00597-LJO-SA B (E.D. Cal., Fresno 
Div.) (case removed on April 23, 2013); Fernandez v. 
McKnight, 12-cv-00557-BAM (E.D. Cal., Fresno Div) 
(complaint filed on April 10, 2012); Morris v. City of 
Fresno, et al., 08-cv-01422-AWI-SMS (E.D. Cal., Fresno 
Div.) (local counsel substituted on behalf of pro se 
plaintiff on November 7, 2011); Estate of Martin Sra-
bian v. Mims, et al., 08-cv-00336-LJO-SMS (E.D. Cal., 
Fresno Div.) (local counsel led a six-day jury trial, con-
cluding January 23, 2013). Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ fees 
shall be determined by the prevailing rates in the 
Fresno community. 

 The Court’s review of the hourly rates generally 
accepted in the Fresno community for competent, ex-
perienced attorneys reveals a range of $250-$380 per 
hour. The rates at the highest end of this scale (in 
excess of $300) are generally reserved for those prac- 
titioners regarded as competent, reputable, and pos-
sessing in excess of 20 years of experience. See, e.g., 
Luna v. Hoa Trung Vo, No. 1:08-cv-01962-AWI-SMS, 
2011 WL 2078004 at *5 (E.D. Cal. May 25, 2011) (at-
torney with more than 40 years of experience and spe-
cializing in disability related litigation awarded $375 
per hour; an associate with twenty years of litigation 
experience was given a $315 rate; and an associate 
with ten years of experience was given a $295 rate.); 
Jadwin v. County of Kern, 767 F.Supp.2d 1069, 1129-
1134 (E.D. Cal. 2011) (An attorney with 13 years of ex-
perience, but insubstantial trial experience, requested 
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$400 hour and received $275 an hour; An attorney with 
16 years of experience requested $450 an hour and re-
ceived $350 an hour; A research attorney with 20 years 
of experience requested $385 an hour and received 
$295 an hour; An attorney with almost 40 years of ex-
perience requested $660 per hour and received $380 
per hour.); Miller v. Schmitz, No. 1: 12-cv-00137-LJO-
SAB, 2014 WL 642729 at *3 (E.D. Cal., Feb. 18, 2014) 
($350 per hour for civil rights attorney with 20 years 
of experience, and noting that the “prevailing hourly 
rate in this district is in the $400/hour range for expe-
rience attorneys.”) (internal quotation marks omitted.) 

 Further down the scale, the range of reasonable 
hourly rates for competent attorneys with less than 
ten years of experience is $175-$300 per hour. See e.g., 
S.A. Minor ex. Rel. His parents v. Tulare County Of- 
fice of Educ., No. 1: 08-cv-1215-LJO-GSA, 2009 WL 
4048656 at *4-5 (E.D. Cal., Nov. 20, 2009) ($250 for an 
attorney with eight years of experience); C.B. v. Sonora 
School Dist., 1: 09-cv-00285-OWW-SMS, 2011 WL 
4590775 at *3-4 (E.D. Cal. Sept. 30, 2011) ($300 for 
lead trial counsel with five years of experience); Frank 
v. Wilbur-Ellis Co. Salaried Employees Ltd. Plan, No. 1: 
08-cv-284-LJO-GSA, 2009 WL 2579100 at *5-6 (E.D. 
Cal. Aug. 19, 2009) (awarding an hourly rate of $300 
per hour to a fourth year associate who has been in-
volved in six trials); White v. Rite of Passage Adolescent 
Treatment Centers and Schools, No. 1:13-cv-1871-LJO-
BAM, 2014 WL 641083, at *5 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 18, 2014) 
(awarding $300.00 per hour for counsel with six years 
of experience in representative action under the 
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California Private Attorney General Act of 2004); Mil-
ler v. Schmitz, No. 1:12-cv-00137-LJO-SAB, 2014 WL 
642729 at *3-4 (E.D. Cal., Feb. 18, 2014) (two attorneys 
who were licensed to practice law for less than a year 
were awarded $175 per hour). 

 With these parameters in mind, the Court consid-
ers the reasonable hourly rate to be awarded to Plain-
tiffs’ attorneys. 

 
i. Walter H. Walker 

 Mr. Walker served as co-lead counsel in this mat-
ter, and was one of two primary attorneys who tried 
this case. Mr. Walker is a named partner in the law 
firm of Walker, Hamilton & Koenig LLP. Mr. Walker is 
a 1974 graduate of the University of California, Has-
tings College of the Law, and a 1971 graduate of the 
University of Pennsylvania. Doc. 299, Attach. 2. Mr. 
Walker has been licensed to practice law in California 
since 1974. Id. Mr. Walker has tried over 50 jury cases 
in California, and has participated in trials and made 
other court appearances in several other states. Id. Mr. 
Walker has received numerous accolades, awards and 
other recognitions throughout his career. Id. 

 The Court finds that Mr. Walker has demonstrated 
the highest level of skill, experience and reputation rel-
ative to the Fresno community. Accordingly, the Court 
sets Mr. Walker’s hourly rate at $380.00 per hour. 
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ii. Peter J. Koenig 

 Mr. Koenig served as co-lead counsel in this mat-
ter, and was one of two primary attorneys who tried 
this case. Mr. Koenig is a named partner in the law 
firm of Walker, Hamilton & Koenig LLP. Mr. Koenig 
graduated with a bachelor’s degree from University of 
California, Berkeley in 1983. Doc. 299, Attach. 6. Mr. 
Koenig received his J.D. from University of San Fran-
cisco School of Law in 1987 and was admitted to prac-
tice in California that same year. Mr. Koenig has been 
practicing law for almost twenty-seven years. 

 The Court finds that Mr. Koenig has demonstrated 
the highest level of skill, experience and reputation rel-
ative to the Fresno community. Accordingly, the Court 
sets Mr. Koenig’s hourly rate at $380.00 per hour. 

 
iii. Ellen Lake 

 Ms. Lake is a solo practitioner who served as ap-
pellate counsel for Plaintiffs in this matter. After sum-
mary judgment was granted in Defendants’ favor, Ms. 
Lake prepared the opening and reply briefs, as well as 
the related excerpts of record, for the appeal before the 
Ninth Circuit. Doc. 299, Attach. 7. Ms. Lake also pre-
pared the instant fee motion. Ms. Lake graduated from 
Harvard University in 1966 and graduated from Case 
Western Reserve Law School in 1970. Id. Ms. Lake was 
admitted to the California Bar in 1971. Id. Ms. Lake’s 
experience is both diverse and lengthy. Before opening 
her own practice in 1985, Ms. Lake has served as a 
staff attorney for a California Supreme Court justice, 
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and also served as Chief of Litigation for the California 
Agricultural Relations Board. Id. Since 1985, Ms. Lake’s 
practice has focused on law and motion practice and 
civil appeals in a variety of substantive areas. Id. 

 The Court finds that Ms. Lake has demonstrated 
the highest level of skill, experience and reputation rel-
ative to the Fresno community. Accordingly, the Court 
sets Ms. Lake’s hourly rate at $380.00 per hour. 

 
iv. Richard Berman 

 Mr. Berman is a solo practitioner who assisted 
Plaintiffs in a variety of aspects in this case, from early 
investigation to trial. Mr. Berman is a graduate of 
UCLA and attended law school at the University of 
California, Hastings College of Law. Mr. Berman has 
been practicing law in California since 1973. Mr. Ber-
man requests an hourly rate of $350.00 per hour. 

 The Court finds Mr. Berman’s requested rate is in 
line with similarly experienced attorneys in the Fresno 
community, and is the rate at which he usually bills his 
time. (Doc. 299.) Accordingly, the Court sets Mr. Ber-
man’s hourly rate at $350.00 per hour. 

 
v. Eric Schweitzer 

 Mr. Schweitzer, a partner in the law firm of 
Schweitzer and Davidian, P.C., assisted Plaintiffs 
throughout various stages of this case. Mr. Schweitzer 
graduated from San Joaquin College of Law in 1995, 
and became licensed to practice law that same year. 
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 A reasonable hourly rate comparable to other at-
torneys of similar skill, experience and reputation in 
the Fresno community is $300.00 per hour. The Court 
sets Mr. Schweitzer’s hourly rate at $300.00 per hour. 

 
vi. Clarissa E. Kerns 

 Ms. Kerns is an associate with the law firm of 
Walker, Hamilton & Koenig LLP. Ms. Kerns partici-
pated in various aspects of this case, from assisting on 
appeal to preparation for trial. Doc. 299, Attach. 8. Ms. 
Kern graduated from Wellesley College in 2000, and 
Golden Gate University School of Law in 2006. Ms. 
Kern was admitted to practice in California in Decem-
ber of 2006. 

 A reasonable hourly rate comparable to other at-
torneys of similar skill, experience and reputation in 
the Fresno community is $250.00 per hour. The Court 
sets Ms. Kerns’ hourly rate at $250.00. 

 
vii. Rana Ansari-Jaberi 

 Ms. Ansari-Jaberi is currently an attorney at the 
law firm of Reed Smith LLP, where she has been em-
ployed since 2012. Prior to that, from 2009 to 2012, she 
was an associate at the law firm of Walker, Hamilton 
& Koenig LLP. Ms. Ansari-Jaberi worked on various 
aspects of Plaintiffs’ case, including pleadings, discov-
ery and law and motion practice. Ms. Ansari-Jaberi 
graduated from the University of California, Davis, in 
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2004, and received her J.D. from the University of Cal-
ifornia, Hastings College of the Law, in 2008. Ms. 
Ansari-Jaberi was admitted to practice in California in 
January 2009. 

 A reasonable hourly rate comparable to other at-
torneys of similar skill, experience and reputation in 
the Fresno community is $250.00 per hour. Accord-
ingly, the Court sets Ms. Ansari-Jaberi’s hourly rate at 
$250.00 per hour. 

 
viii. Beau R. Burbidge 

 Mr. Burbidge is an associate at the law firm of 
Walker, Hamilton & Koenig LLP. Mr. Burbidge as-
sisted in various aspects of Plaintiffs’ case, primarily 
the trial. Mr. Burbidge graduated from Georgetown 
University in 2004, and from the University of Califor-
nia, Hastings College of Law, in 2009. Mr. Burbidge 
was admitted to practice in California in 2009. 

 A reasonable hourly rate comparable to other at-
torneys of similar skill, experience and reputation in 
the Fresno community is $250.00 per hour. Accord-
ingly, the Court sets Mr. Burbidge’s hourly rate at 
$250.00 per hour. 

 
ix. Paralegal Time 

 A reasonable hourly rate for paralegals in the 
Fresno community is $75.00-$150.00 per hour. See, J 
& J Sports Productions, Inc. v. Corona, No. 1:12-cv-
01844-LJO-JLT, 2014 WL 1513426 at *3 (E.D. Cal., 
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Apr. 16, 2014) ($75.00); Gutierrez v. Onanion, No. 11-
cv-00579-SMS, 2012 WL 1868441 at *2 (E.D. Cal., May 
22, 2012) ($115.00); Spence v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 
No. 1:10-cv-2057-AWI-GSA, 2012 WL 844713 at *5 
(E.D. Cal., Mar. 12, 2012) (approving “paralegal or 
other support rates” of $125.00, $145.00 and $155.00); 

 Plaintiffs request $100.00 per hour for paralegal 
Jess Ibutuan. That amount is in line with fees gener-
ally awarded in this district, and the Court sets Jess 
Ibutuan’s hourly rate at $100.00 per hour. 

 Plaintiffs request $150 per hour for paralegal 
Jocelyn Alvarez. This amount is at the very top of fees 
awarded to paralegals in this district. Plaintiffs, how-
ever, have not offered any reason why Ms. Alvarez’s fee 
should be set at the highest fee level in this district, or 
why Ms. Alvarez should be billed at a higher rate than 
Ms. Ibutuan. Accordingly, Ms. Alvarez’s hourly rate 
should be set at a rate more typical of this district. The 
Court sets Ms. Alvarez’s rate at $100.00 per hour. 

 
3. Reasonable Number of Hours 

 A district court, using the lodestar method to de-
termine the amount of attorney’s fees to award, must 
determine a reasonable number of hours for which the 
prevailing party should be compensated. See Fischer v. 
SJB-P.D. Inc., 214 F.3d 1115, 1119 (9th Cir. 2000). Ul-
timately, a “reasonable” number of hours equals “[t]he 
number of hours . . . [which] could reasonably have 
been billed to a private client.” Moreno, 534 F.3d at 
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1111. The prevailing party has the burden of submit-
ting billing records to establish that the number of 
hours it has requested are reasonable. See In re Wash. 
Pub. Power Supply Sys. Sec. Litig., 19 F.3d 1291, 1305 
(9th Cir. 1994). 

 “By and large, the [district] court should defer to 
the winning lawyer’s professional judgment as to how 
much time he was required to spend on the case.” 
Moreno v. City of Sacramento, 534 F.3d at 1106, 1112 
(9th Cir. 2008). Plaintiffs are entitled to recover fees for 
“every item of service which, at the time rendered, 
would have been undertaken by a reasonable and pru-
dent lawyer to advance or protect his client’s interest.” 
Moore v. Jas. H. Matthews & Co., 682 F.2d 830, 839 (9th 
Cir. 1982). “It must be kept in mind that lawyers are 
not likely to spend unnecessary time on contingency 
fee cases in the hope of inflating their fees. The payoff 
is too uncertain, as to both the result and the amount 
of the fee. It would therefore be the highly atypical civil 
rights case where plaintiff ’s lawyer engages in churn-
ing.” Moreno, 534 F.3d at 1112. 

 Plaintiffs submit the following hours were ex-
pended litigating this case: 

Attorney Hours 

Walter H. Walker, III 909.74 

Peter J. Koenig 691.7 

Ellen Lake 247.3 

Richard Berman 78.58 

Eric Schweitzer 48.1 
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Clarissa E. Kearns 118.7 

Rana Ansari-Jaberi 835.7 

Beau R. Burbidge 484.3 

Jess Ibatuan (paralegal) 30.8 

Jocelyn Alvarez (paralegal) 63.1 

 Defendants present numerous arguments attack-
ing these hours, three of which the Court will address 
in detail.11 First, Defendants argue Plaintiffs are not 

 
 11 Defendants present numerous arguments that do not 
merit a detailed analysis. Defendants argue Plaintiffs improperly 
billed for clerical tasks that should be excluded from the lodestar 
computation. However, many of the entries contested by Defend-
ants show entries containing compensable work as well as clerical 
work. For example, an entry may read as “prepared and mailed 
subpoena,” or “researched topic X; entered time.” Defendants do 
not challenge the time expended on the compensable aspects of 
these entries. On the contrary, Defendants mistakenly suggest 
these entries represent clerical work only. The Court does not find 
any attorney time was clerical in nature such that their hours 
should be excluded. However, certain paralegal time appears cler-
ical in nature and will be excluded. Paralegal Ibatuan billed 3.5 
hours consisting of general filing and secretarial work. Those 
hours will be excluded. Paralegal Alvarez billed 1.9 hours consist-
ing of secretarial tasks, and those hours will be excluded. Next, 
Defendants argue Plaintiffs are not entitled to fees relating to ex-
pert and lay witnesses who did not testify at trial. Defendants cite 
no authority for this proposition. On the contrary, Defendants ar-
gue in their reply memorandum in support of their bill of costs 
that “[j]ust because a witness did not testify at trial . . . does not 
negate the fact that the testimony was necessarily obtained for 
use in defending the action.” Doc. 267, 6: 9-10. Plaintiffs are enti-
tled to recover fees for “every item of service which, at the time 
rendered, would have been undertaken by a reasonable and pru-
dent lawyer to advance or protect his client’s interest.” Moore v. 
Jas. H. Matthews & Co., 682 F.2d 830, 839 (9th Cir. 1982). Defend-
ants offer no reason why Plaintiffs’ investigation into the subject  
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entitled to recover any fees arising from their ap- 
peal to the Ninth Circuit. Second, Defendants argue 
Plaintiffs’ billing lacks the required specificity and 
otherwise constitutes improper block billing. Third, 
Defendants argue Plaintiffs may not seek fees for 

 
witnesses was unreasonable or imprudent. The Court will not ex-
clude these hours. Next, Defendants seek to exclude the attorneys’ 
fees relating to Plaintiffs’ Counsels’ work with a private investi-
gator. Defendants acknowledge fees and costs associated with pri-
vate investigators are recoverable, however, speculate that 
because this investigator did not further Plaintiffs’ case, Plain-
tiffs’ counsels’ time spent working with this investigator should 
be excluded. Again, Defendants offer no reason why Plaintiffs’ ef-
forts to retain a private investigator was somehow unreasonable 
or imprudent at the time these fees were incurred. The Court will 
not exclude these hours. Next, Defendants argue Plaintiffs’ fees 
relating to the instant Motion should be excluded, because the 
Motion was prepared by Ms. Lake, rather than a member of Plain-
tiffs’ lead counsel team. The Court is not persuaded by this argu-
ment and will not exclude these fees. In addition to fees awarded 
for success in the litigation, a prevailing party under Section 1988 
is also entitled to recover fees for work performed in preparing 
the motion for attorney’s fees itself. Camacho v. Bridgeport Fin., 
Inc., 523 F.3d 973, 980 (9th Cir. 2008) (“In statutory fee cases, fed-
eral courts, including our own, have uniformly held that time 
spent in establishing the entitlement to and amount of the fee is 
compensable.”) Even assuming it was improper to hire outside 
counsel to prepare a motion for fees, because Ms. Lake and Mr. 
Walker have the same billing rate, the distinction is without a dif-
ference. Finally, Defendants argue the Court should exclude fees 
relating to media coverage. Fees for media contacts are ordinarily 
the type of activity attorneys do at their own expense. Gates v. 
Gomez, 60 F.3d 525, 535 (9th Cir. 1995). The Court will exclude 
the following fees: Mr. Walker (2.35); Mr. Berman (3.83); Mr. 
Schweitzer (.75).  
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unrelated, unsuccessful claims. The Court addresses 
each argument in turn.12 

 
i. Fees Relating to Plaintiffs’ Appeal 

 On July 13, 2011, District Judge Lawrence J. 
O’Neill granted Defendants’ Motion for Summary 
Judgment as to all claims. (Doc. 141.) Plaintiffs timely 
appealed. (Doc. 149.) On appeal, the Ninth Circuit af-
firmed in part and reversed in part. (Doc. 155.) Specif-
ically, the Ninth Circuit reversed the District Court’s 
judgment as to Plaintiffs’ Fourth and Fourteenth 
Amendment claims, as well as Plaintiffs’ state law 
wrongful death claim. Id. The Ninth Circuit upheld the 

 
 12 As a preliminary matter, Defendants have objected to 
many of Plaintiffs’ hours in a manner that makes it prohibitively 
difficult to evaluate Defendants’ arguments. Counsel Roy Santos 
has submitted a declaration which attaches hundreds of pages of 
spreadsheets, each of which addresses a particular attorney’s bill-
ing records, and contains one of several boilerplate objections. 
When articulating an objection to a category of billing in its Op-
position brief, Defendants refer this Court to anywhere from 
twenty to one hundred of these pages, without any specificity. As 
the Court reviewed these spreadsheets with respect to a category 
of fees, the majority of the fee entries had nothing to do with the 
category of fees at issue. Rather, Defendants force the Court to 
mine through hundreds of spreadsheets in order to locate the 
scattered entries that presumably apply to the category of fees at 
issue. The non-moving party has the “burden of rebuttal” that re-
quires submission of evidence challenging the accuracy and rea-
sonableness of the hours charged. Gates v. Deukmejian, 987 F.2d 
1392, 1397-98 (9th Cir. 1992). Defendants do not meet this burden 
by referring this Court to hundreds of pages of spreadsheets, most 
of which have little relevance to the fees at issue. Nonetheless, the 
Court has conducted an independent evaluation of Plaintiffs’ time 
sheets.  
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District Court’s judgment as to Plaintiffs’ supervisory 
liability and Monell claims. Id. As for the claims which 
were reversed, the Ninth Circuit held there were “gen-
uine disputes of material fact,” but did not direct the 
District Court to enter judgment in Plaintiffs’ favor on 
any claim. Id. 

 The parties dispute whether Plaintiffs are entitled 
to an award of fees for their efforts on appeal. Defen- 
dants, relying on Ninth Circuit Rules 39-1.6(a) and 
39-1.8, as well as the Ninth Circuit’s decision in Cum-
mings v. Cornell, argue that Plaintiffs should have filed 
for fees incurred on appeal in the Ninth Circuit, not 
this Court.13 Plaintiffs respond that because they were 
not “prevailing parties” within the meaning of Section 
1988, there was no purpose in seeking fees at that time. 
Now that they have prevailed on the merits of their 
claims, Plaintiffs argue they are entitled to seek their 
fees relating to the appeal from this Court. 

 Ninth Circuit Rule 39-1.6(a) provides that “[a]b-
sent a statutory provision to the contrary, a request 
for attorneys’ fees shall be filed no later than 14 days 
after the expiration of the period within which a 

 
 13 Defendants cite numerous other cases holding that, under 
Cummings, fee requests under Section 1988 must be made before 
the Ninth Circuit. See, e.g., Taylor v. Chiang, 2007 WL 3238677, 
*2 fn. 3 (E.D. Cal. 2007) (overruled on other grounds); Yamada v. 
Weaver, 2012 WL 6019121, *5-6 (D. Hawai‘i 2012); Nader v. 
Brewer, 2009 WL 811450, *1 (D. Ariz. 2009); Marshall v. Kirby, 
2010 WL 4923486, *7 (D. Nev. 2010); and Noel v. Hall, 2013 WL 
3146863, *7 (D. Or. 2013). 
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petition for rehearing may be filed, unless a timely pe-
tition for rehearing is filed. If a timely petition for re-
hearing is filed, the request for attorneys fees shall be 
filed no later than 14 days after the Court’s disposition 
of the petition.” Ninth Circuit Rule 39-1.6(b) further 
requires that “[a] request for an award of attorneys 
fees must be supported by a memorandum showing 
that the party seeking fees is legally entitled to 
them. . . .” Lastly, Circuit Rule 39-1.8(a) provides that 
“[a]ny party who is or may be eligible for attorneys fees 
on appeal to this Court may, within the time permitted 
in Circuit Rule 39-1.6, file a motion to transfer consid-
eration of attorneys fees on appeal to the district court 
or administrative agency from which the appeal was 
taken.” 

 In Cummings, nonunion state employees brought 
a Section 1983 action against a public sector union and 
certain public officials, claiming that the union pro-
vided insufficient notice regarding “fair share” fees de-
ducted from their paychecks to cover their share of 
collective bargaining process between state and union. 
Cummings, 402 F.3d at 940-41. The United States Dis-
trict Court for the Eastern District of California certi-
fied the class, entered summary judgment against 
union, directed refund of all fair share fees, and 
awarded fees and costs. Id. On appeal, the Ninth Cir-
cuit affirmed the district court’s certification of the 
class and affirmed the court’s ruling that the union’s 
notice was defective. Id. However, the Ninth Circuit re-
versed the award of restitution. Id. 
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 On remand, the district court made two rulings 
that were appealed. The first one concerned the award 
of nominal damages. The second one concerned attor-
ney’s fees. Relevant to the instant Motion, the attor-
ney’s fee award included fees and expenses incurred on 
the first appeal. In the subsequent appeal, Cummings 
held that pursuant to Ninth Circuit Rule 39-1.6, Plain-
tiffs’ application for attorneys’ fees and expenses in-
curred on their first appeal should have been filed with 
the Clerk of the Ninth Circuit. Id. at 947. The rule re-
quiring a plaintiff to seek their appellate fees before 
the Ninth Circuit in a Section 1988 case was reaf-
firmed in Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc. v. 
Winter, 543 F.3d 1152, 1164 (9th Cir. 2008) (“[i]n Cum-
mings, we held that appellate fees requested pursuant 
to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 must be filed with the Clerk of the 
Ninth Circuit in the first instance, not with the district 
court.”) 

 Plaintiffs argue Cummings does not control here, 
because Plaintiffs were not a prevailing party entitled 
to fees under Section 1988 following the Ninth Cir-
cuit’s decision. Plaintiffs refer this Court to other 
Ninth Circuit decisions denying a Plaintiffs’ request 
for fees because the appeal did not result in the plain-
tiff prevailing on the merits; rather, the result of the 
appeal “simply allow[ed plaintiffs] a trial on the mer-
its.” Tribble v. Gardner, 860 F.2d 321, 328 (9th Cir. 
1988); See also, Proctor v. Consolidated Freightways 
Corp. of Delaware, 795 F.2d 1472, 1479 (9th Cir. 1986) 
(plaintiff who overturned summary judgment on ap-
peal was not entitled to attorneys’ fees because she had 
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not yet prevailed on the merits of her claim; court held 
that she could bring fee request before the district 
court if she succeeded at trial); Tribble, 860 F.2d at 328 
(plaintiff who was successful in affirming denial of 
summary judgment had not yet succeeded on merits of 
his claim and thus was not entitled to attorneys’ fees 
from court of appeals); Hanrahan v. Hampton, 446 U.S. 
754, 758-59 (1980) (The Supreme Court held that the 
plaintiffs were not entitled to attorneys’ fees under 
Section 1988 following appeal, because they had not 
yet “prevailed on the merits of any of their claims. . . . 
As a practical matter they are in a position no different 
from that they would have occupied if they had simply 
defeated the defendants’ motion for a directed verdict 
in the trial court.”) Plaintiffs argue that because they 
did not prevail on the merits of their claims, Cum-
mings’ requirement that Plaintiffs seek fees from the 
Ninth Circuit “in the first instance” does not apply. 

 Plaintiffs were not required to seek their attor-
neys’ fees before the Ninth Circuit. Plaintiffs were not 
a “prevailing party” under Section 1988 following the 
appeal. Rather, the result of the appeal “simply al-
low[ed Plaintiffs] a trial on the merits.” Tribble, 860 
F.2d at 328. Indeed, Cummings recognized the well-es-
tablished principle that “[p]ursuant to the Civil Rights 
Attorney’s Fees Awards Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. § 1988, 
a district court has the authority to award reasonable 
attorney’s fees to the prevailing party in a § 1983 case.” 
Cummings, 402 F.3d at 946. (Emphasis added.) “A 
party need not prevail on all issues litigated, but must 
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succeed on at least some of the merits.” Id. However, 
because Plaintiffs did not prevail on the merits of their 
case, an application for attorneys’ fees would have been 
futile. 

 Defendants do not cite any Ninth Circuit author-
ity requiring a plaintiff to seek fees when they did not 
“prevail on the merits” within the meaning of Section 
1988, and the Court has found none. This Court does 
not interpret Cummings to require a plaintiff who was 
successful on appeal, but did not prevail on any aspect 
of the merits of their claims, to seek their attorneys’ 
fees for that appeal before the Ninth Circuit. 

 Practical considerations support this interpreta-
tion of Cummings. Seeking attorneys’ fees pursuant to 
Rule 39-1.6 is not a mere procedural formality. Circuit 
Rule 39-1.6(b) requires that “[a] request for an award 
of attorneys fees must be supported by a memorandum 
showing that the party seeking fees is legally entitled 
to them. . . .” However, it is black letter law that a 
plaintiff is not entitled to fees under Section 1988 un-
less they prevail on some aspect of the merits of their 
claims. Plaintiffs did not prevail on the merits of any 
of their claims on appeal. Interpreting Cummings in 
the manner suggested by Defendants would result in a 
requirement that parties knowingly misrepresent 
their entitlement to fees from the Ninth Circuit. This 
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Court does not believe that is the intended conse-
quence of Cummings or the Ninth Circuit Rules.14 Ac-
cordingly, the Court will not exclude Plaintiffs’ fees 
relating to the appeal.15 

   

 
 14 Indeed, Circuit Rule 39-1.8, which provides guidance on 
how to transfer a request for fees incurred on appeal to the district 
court, confirms the Court’s interpretation of Cummings. Rule 39-
1.8 provides that “[a]ny party who is or may be eligible for attor-
neys fees on appeal to this Court may, within the time permitted 
in Circuit Rule 39-1.6, file a motion to transfer consideration of 
attorneys fees on appeal to the district court or administrative 
agency from which the appeal was taken.” (emphasis added.) 
Thus, Rule 39-1.8 presupposes a party subject to Rule 39-1.6 is in 
fact entitled to an award of fees. 
 15 The cases cited by Defendants are distinguishable because 
they concerned circumstances where the fee requesting party pre-
vailed on the merits in some way during the appeal. See, e.g., Cum-
mings v. Connel, 402 F.3d 936 (9th Cir. 2005) (court affirmed 
defendants’ liability on appeal, entitling plaintiffs to attorneys’ 
fees at that time); Yamada v. Weaver, 2012 WL 6019121, *5-6 (D. 
Hawaii 2012) (plaintiffs obtained preliminary injunction, which 
was upheld on appeal); Nader v. Brewer, 2009 WL 811450, * 1 (D. 
Ariz. 2009) (Ninth Circuit reversed and remanded an order grant-
ing summary judgment, with instructions to enter judgment in 
favor of plaintiffs). Two district court cases cited by Defendants 
determined Cummings foreclosed a plaintiff ’s ability to seek fees 
relating to an appeal even though those plaintiffs did not prevail 
on the merits of their claims. See, Marshall v. Kirby, 2010 WL 
4923486, *7 (D. Nev. 2010); Lantz v. Kreider, 2010 WL 2609080 (D. 
Nev. 2010). However, these Courts did not consider the distinction 
between Cummings and instances where a party does not prevail 
on the merits in any way. This Court respectfully disagrees with 
those decisions. 
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ii. Billing Entries – Block Billing 
and the Required Specificity 

 “The party petitioning for attorneys’ fees ‘bears 
the burden of submitting detailed time records justify-
ing the hours claimed to have been expended.” 
Chalmers v. City of Los Angeles, 796 F.2d 1205, 1210 
(9th Cir. 1986). “Plaintiff ’s counsel, of course, is not re-
quired to record in great detail how each minute of his 
time was expended.” Hensley, 461 U.S. at 437, n. 12. 
Counsel must only “identify the general subject matter 
of his time expenditures.” Id. (emphasis added). “[V]er-
ified time statements of the attorneys, as officers of the 
court, are entitled to credence in the absence of a clear 
indication the records are erroneous.” Kittok v. Leslie’s 
Poolmart, Inc., 687 F.Supp.2d 953, 963 (C.D. Cal. 2009). 

 A billing practice that may preclude fee state-
ments from providing the required level of specificity 
is known as block billing. “Block billing is the time-
keeping method by which each lawyer and legal assis-
tant enters the total daily time spent working on a 
case, rather than itemizing the time expended on spe-
cific tasks.” Welch v. Met. Life Ins. Co., 480 F.3d 942, 945 
n. 2 (9th Cir. 2007) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
“[B]lock billing makes it more difficult to determine 
how much time was spent on particular activities.” Id. 
at 948. Additionally, “block billing hides accountability 
and may increase time by 10% to 30% by lumping to-
gether tasks.” Yeager v. Bowlin, Civ. No. 2:08-102 WBS 
JFM, 2010 W L 1689225, at * 1 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 26, 2010) 
(citing The State Bar of California Committee on Man-
datory Fee Arbitration, Arbitration Advisory 03-01 
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(2003)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Accord-
ingly, “the usage of block billing is fundamentally in-
consistent with the lodestar method.” Id. 

 The Court has reviewed Plaintiffs’ billing records. 
By and large, Plaintiffs’ billing records identify the 
general subject matter of their time expenditures and 
are otherwise sufficiently specific. Moreover, many of 
the instances of block billing claimed by Defendants do 
not actually constitute block billing. 

 Mr. Burbidge’s billing practices present a good ex-
ample of the entries Defendants consider block billing, 
but the Court has no concerns with how the time was 
spent. In most instances, Mr. Burbidge’s entries in-
clude several tasks – extremely specific and discrete 
tasks – and are presented in the aggregate. For exam-
ple, Defendants challenge Mr. Burbidge’s entry on De-
cember 9, 2013, in which Mr. Burbidge claims 4.3 hours 
on the following activities: “Revise and finalize trial 
briefs; review and analysis of defendants’ trial brief; 
draft and revise response to defendants’ trial brief; 
draft and revise arguments in response to defendants’ 
trial brief.” (Santos Decl., Doc. 309, Attach. 9, page 8.) 
Mr. Burbidge certainly could have broken down this 
4.3 hour block into the discrete subtasks, but was un-
der no obligation to do so. Secalt S.A. v. Wuxi Shenxi 
Const. Machinery Co., Ltd., 668 F.3d 677 (9th Cir. 2012) 
(The Ninth Circuit has held that even when certain 
billing entries “list numerous tasks performed over 
multi-hour spans,” it is within the district court discre-
tion to award fees presented in this manner because 
attorneys are “not required to record in great detail 
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how each minute of his time was expended.”). The en-
try would only be a problem where it “obscure[s] the 
nature of some of the work claimed.” Kittok v. Leslie’s 
Poolmart, Inc., 687 F.Supp.2d 943 (C.D. Cal. 2009). 

 Notwithstanding the following exception, the chal-
lenged items are sufficient to meet Plaintiffs’ burden 
of showing reasonable time spent on the activities 
listed. However, the Court has noticed some entries in 
Ms. Ansari’s time sheets obscure the nature of her 
work claims. Specifically, the Court finds the following 
billing entries constitute impermissible block billing, 
or otherwise lack the specificity necessary: 

 Ms. Ansari 

 7/14/09 (12.1 hours) 

 5/7/10 (16.0 hours) 

 5/17/10-5/21/10 (Ms. Ansari claims to have ex-
pended 46.3 hours reviewing “additional documents 
received from ACLU/persons in solidarity.”) 

 The Court will reduce these hours by 30%.16 See 
Welch, 480 F.3d at 948. The Court finds Plaintiffs’ 

 
 16 On additional concerning billing entry the Court has no-
ticed is Eric Schweitzer’s statement that on March 30, 2009, he 
spent three hours developing and writing up RICO theories for 
this case, which he later discussed with Mr. Walker. (Doc. 299, At-
tach.12.) The Court does not see how the Racketeer Influenced 
and Corrupt Organizations Act applies to this case in any way. 
These hours will be excluded. 
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Counsels’ remaining fee statements contain the requi-
site level of specificity and do not constitute impermis-
sible block billing. 

 
iii. Fees For Unsuccessful Claims 

 Defendants argue Plaintiffs should not be permit-
ted to receive attorneys’ fees for time spent on unsuc-
cessful claims unrelated to Plaintiffs’ Section 1983 
claim. Defendants argue these claims include Plain-
tiffs’ unsuccessful Monell and supervisory liability 
claims, as well as former Plaintiff Jennafer Uribe’s 
claims. Plaintiffs respond that these three claims are 
related to Plaintiffs’ successful claims, because they all 
revolve around a common core of facts: the shooting of 
Stephen Willis. 

 In Hensley, the Supreme Court explained that, 
where a plaintiff is partially successful in obtaining 
the relief sought, a two-part analysis must be applied 
to determine whether unsuccessful claims may be in-
cluded in a fee award: (1) “[D]id the plaintiff fail to pre-
vail on claims that were unrelated to the claims on 
which he prevailed?” and (2) “[D]id the plaintiff achieve 
a level of success that makes the hours reasonably ex-
pended a satisfactory basis for making a fee award?”17 

 
 17 The Court considers the second Hensley prong under the 
lodestar adjustment analysis infra. See Stonebrae, L.P. v. Toll 
Bros., Inc., 2011 WL 1334444 (N.D. Cal. 2011) (applying the first 
Hensley step in the initial lodestar calculation; and applying the 
second step in the lodestar adjustment determination); see also, 
Gonzalez v. City of Maywood, 729 F.3d 1196 (9th Cir. 2013) (“when  
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Hensle, 461 U.S. at 434. If the claims are unrelated, 
“the final fee award may not include the time expended 
on the unsuccessful claims.” Thorne v. El Segundo, 802 
F.2d 1131, 1141 (9th Cir. 1986). 

 The Court noted in Hensley that “there is no cer-
tain method of determining when claims are related or 
unrelated.” Id. at 437 n. 12; See also Thorne, 802 F.2d 
at 1141 (“The test for relatedness is not precise.”). Typ-
ically, the Court explained, related claims “will involve 
a common core of facts or will be based on related legal 
theories.” Hensley, 461 U.S. at 435. In these cases, an 
attorney’s time is “devoted generally to the litigation 
as a whole, making it difficult to divide the hours ex-
pended on a claim-by-claim basis,” and “[s]uch a law-
suit cannot be viewed as a series of discrete claims.” Id. 

 The Ninth Circuit has generously applied Hens-
ley’s test of relatedness. See Webb v. Sloan, 330 F.3d 
1158, 1169 (9th Cir. 2003). In assessing the issue of 
relatedness, a court should consider “whether the 
relief sought on the unsuccessful claim ‘is intended to 
remedy a course of conduct entirely distinct and sepa-
rate from the course of conduct that gave rise to the 
injury on which the relief granted is premised.’ ” 
Thorne, 802 F.2d at 1141 (quoting Mary Beth. v. City of 
Chicago, 723 F.2d 1263, 1279 (7th Cir. 1983)). Other 

 
faced with a massive fee application the district court has the au-
thority to make across-the-board percentage cuts either in the 
number of hours claimed or in the final lodestar figure as a prac-
tical means of [excluding non-compensable hours] from a fee ap-
plication.”) (quoting Gates v. Deukmejian, 987 F.2d 1392, 1399 
(9th Cir. 1992).) 
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factors informing the issue of relatedness are “whether 
the unsuccessful claims were presented separately, 
whether testimony on the successful and unsuccessful 
claims overlapped, and whether evidence concerning 
one issue was material and relevant to other issues.” 
Id. 

 Analyzed under the standards announced in 
Hensley and its progeny, Plaintiffs’ successful and un-
successful claims are “related.” Plaintiffs’ Monell and 
supervisory liability claims, while seeking to impose li-
ability on separate legal grounds, nonetheless con-
cerned a common core of facts. In essence, Plaintiffs’ 
sought to prove that Officer Catton’s and Astacio’s con-
duct toward Stephen Willis represented a pattern of 
misconduct by the Fresno Police Department. While 
Plaintiffs’ failed to make such a showing, it remains 
that the conduct of Officers Catton and Astacio was the 
primary conduit through which Plaintiffs sought to 
make this showing. The relief sought on these unsuc-
cessful claims was not intended to “remedy a course of 
conduct entirely distinct and separate from the course 
of conduct that gave rise to the injury on which the re-
lief granted is premised.’ ” Thorne, 802 F.2d at 1141. 
There is no question that “testimony on the successful 
and unsuccessful claims would have overlapped, and 
evidence concerning one issue was material and rele-
vant to other issues.” Id; see also, McCown v. City of 
Fontana, 565 F.3d 1097, 1103 (9th Cir. 2009) (not an 
abuse of discretion to find that plaintiff ’s unsuccessful 
wrongful arrest and Monell claims and successful ex-
cessive force claim were related because each claim, 
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“though brought on the basis of different legal theories 
against different defendants, arose from a common 
core of facts, namely [plaintiff ’s] arrest”). 

 Similarly, former Plaintiff Uribe’s claims are re-
lated under Hensley. Plaintiffs’ successful claims and 
Uribe’s unsuccessful claims all revolve around a singu-
lar course of conduct: Officer Catton’s and Officer 
Astacio’s decision to use deadly force against Stephen 
Willis, and the manner in which they executed that de-
cision. For example, a key component of Uribe’s claims 
was that Defendant Officers were firing in inappropri-
ate directions. Similarly, a component of Plaintiffs’ suc-
cessful claims was that the Defendants Officers were 
firing at each other and shooting in the direction of var-
ious apartments. Another other key component of Ms. 
Uribe’s claims was that she was traumatized by her 
proximity to her boyfriend’s (Stephen’s) death. This 
second claim necessarily shares a common core of facts 
with Plaintiffs’ successful claims, which sought to hold 
Defendants liable for causing Stephan’s death. In sum, 
Ms. Uribe’s claims were not intended to remedy a 
course of conduct distinct and separate from the course 
of conduct that gave rise to Plaintiffs’ successful 
claims. Thorne, 802 F.2d at 1141. 

 Further, the testimony for Ms. Uribe’s claims and 
Plaintiffs’ successful claims overlapped, and evidence 
concerning Uribe’s claims was material and relevant 
Plaintiffs’ claims. The testimony offered by Officers 
Catton and Astacio would have been equally applicable 
to Ms. Uribe’s claims. Indeed, Defendants even called 
Ms. Uribe to testify in order to establish that Stephen 
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was drinking and there was yelling before shots were 
fired, just to name a couple relevant overlaps of testi-
mony. 

 Based on the forgoing, Plaintiffs’ successful and 
unsuccessful claims are related under Hensley and 
should be included in the initial lodestar calculation.18 

 
4. Plaintiffs’ Lodestar 

 Based on the hourly rates and hours stated above, 
the lodestar in this case is calculated as follows: 
  

 
 18 To be sure, the fact that significant hours were spent on 
claims that did not produce any results remains relevant under 
Hensley. As noted above, even where a claim is related, the Court, 
under the second prong of Hensley, must determine whether the 
relief obtained justified the expenditure of attorney time. Hensley, 
461 U.S. at 435 n. 11. If the plaintiff received only partial or lim-
ited success overall, the lodestar may be subject to a reduction 
based on “the degree of success obtained.” Id. at 436. Whether 
such an overall reduction (as opposed to deducting specific hours 
for time spent on a particular claim) is warranted discussed infra. 
No specific deduction, however, shall be taken for time spent on 
the unsuccessful claims. 
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5. Adjustment to Lodestar 

 The lodestar figure is presumptively reasonable. 
See Dague, 505 U.S. at 562 (“We have established a 
‘strong presumption’ that the lodestar represents the 
‘reasonable’ fee[.]”); Gonzalez, 729 F.3d at 1202 (“The 
product of this computation – the “lodestar figure” – 
is a “presumptively reasonable” fee under 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1988.”). However, “in rare cases, a district court may 
make upward or downward adjustments to the pre-
sumptively reasonable lodestar on the basis of those 
factors set out in Kerr v. Screen Extras Guild, Inc., 526 
F.2d 67, 69-70 (9th Cir. 1975), that have not been sub-
sumed in the lodestar calculation.”19 Camacho, 523 
F.3d at 982. Generally, the burden of justifying a devi-
ation rests on the party proposing it. See Blum, 465 
U.S. at 898 (stating that “[t]he burden of proving that 

 
 19 Those factors to be considered in making any adjustment 
to the presumptively reasonable lodestar include: (1) the time and 
labor required, (2) the novelty and difficulty of the questions in-
volved, (3) the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly, 
(4) the preclusion of other employment by the attorney due to ac-
ceptance of the case, (5) the customary fee, (6) whether the fee is 
fixed or contingent, (7) time limitations imposed by the client or 
the circumstances, (8) the amount involved and the results ob-
tained, (9) the experience, reputation, and ability of the attorneys, 
(10) the ‘undesirability’ of the case, (11) the nature and length of 
the professional relationship with the client, and (12) awards in 
similar cases. Kerr v. Screen Extras Guild, Inc., 526 F.2d 67, 69-70 
(9th Cir. 1975). The Court has considered each of these factors, to 
the extent they have not already been considered in the initial 
lodestar computation, in making the following adjustment to 
Plaintiffs’ lodestar. 
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[an upward] adjustment is necessary to the determina-
tion of a reasonable fee is on the fee applicant”). 

 Plaintiffs argue there should be an upward adjust-
ment to the lodestar, while Defendants argue there 
should be a downward adjustment to the lodestar. The 
Court addresses each argument in turn. 

 
i. An Upward Adjustment Is Not 

Warranted 

 Plaintiffs argue an upward adjustment to the lode-
star is warranted in this case, because this case “was a 
highly undesirable one due to the expense and diffi-
culty of proving a constitutional violation against the 
defendant officers.” Pl.s’ Mot., Doc. 299, Attach. 1, 29: 
14-16. Plaintiffs also note the substantial out-of-pocket 
expenses required by this case, the significant amount 
of time required by this case which precluded Plain-
tiffs’ counsel from other work, and the high risk that 
they would never be compensated for either their time 
or costs. Id. at 24: 16-24. Defendants, without making 
any specific argument under Kerr or Hensley, gener-
ally argue an enhancement is not warranted. 

 No fee enhancement is warranted here. By and 
large, the skill of counsel, the difficulty and novelty of 
the underlying legal issues, and the contingent nature 
of the fee award are already baked into the unadorned 
lodestar. Counsel’s skill is evidenced by its sizeable 
hourly rates. The difficulty and novelty of the underly-
ing legal issues are reflected in the significant number 
of hours logged over the course of this litigation, and in 
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the skill (and thus the rate) of the attorneys working 
on Plaintiff ’s behalf. The lodestar also accounts for the 
contingent nature of this case by, among other things, 
the high number of hours logged by Plaintiff ’s counsel. 
Consideration of the relevant Kerr factors was sub-
sumed in the lodestar calculation, and there is no need 
to re-evaluate them here. See Secalt S.A. v. Wuxi 
Shenxi Const. Mach. Co., Ltd., 668 F.3d 677, 689 (9th 
Cir. 2012) (where appropriate, district court may ad-
just the lodestar based on the Kerr factors “that have 
not been subsumed in the lodestar calculation.”) 

 
ii. A Downward Adjustment Is War-

ranted 

 “[W]hen faced with a massive fee application 
the district court has the authority to make across- 
the-board percentage cuts either in the number of 
hours claimed or in the final lodestar figure as a prac-
tical means of [excluding non-compensable hours] from 
a fee application.” Gonzalez v. City of Maywood, 729 
F.3d 1196, 1203 (9th Cir. 2013) (quoting, Gates v. 
Deukmejian, 987 F.2d 1392, 1399 (9th Cir. 1992).20 For 
example, when confronted with a massive fee applica-
tion, courts may make across-the-board adjustments 

 
 20 “Due to the associative property of multiplication [ (A * B) 
* C = A * (B * C) ] it makes no difference in terms of the final 
amount to be awarded whether the district court applies the per-
centage cut to the number of hours claimed, or to the lodestar fig-
ure.” Gonzalez, 729 F.3d at 1203, n. 2. 
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for fees that are “excessive, redundant, or otherwise 
unnecessary.” Gonzalez, 729 F.3d at 1203. 

 However, when a district court decides that a per-
centage cut (to either the lodestar or the number of 
hours) is warranted, it must “set forth a concise but 
clear explanation of its reasons for choosing a given 
percentage reduction.” Gates, 987 F.2d at 1400 (inter-
nal quotation marks omitted). The Ninth Circuit rec-
ognizes one exception to this rule: “[T]he district court 
can impose a small reduction, no greater than 10 per-
cent—a ‘haircut’—based on its exercise of discretion 
and without a more specific explanation.” Moreno, 534 
F.3d at 1112. In all other cases, however, the district 
court must explain why it chose to cut the number of 
hours or the lodestar by the specific percentage it did. 
See, e.g., Schwarz v. Sec ‘y of Health and Human Servs., 
73 F.3d 895, 899-900, 906 (9th Cir. 1995) (affirming 
75% cut to the number of hours billed where plaintiff 
succeeded on only 25% of his claims); Welch v. Metro-
politan Life Ins. Co., 480 F.3d 942, 948 (9th Cir. 2007) 
(affirming 20% cut to hours where fee applicant block 
billed, because court relied on third-party report that 
block billing increased number of hours by 10-30%). 

 In Hensley, the Supreme Court acknowledged that 
mixed results may warrant a downward adjustment to 
the lodestar. Hensley emphasized that the plaintiff ’s 
degree of success (i.e., the “results obtained”) is a cen-
tral consideration as to whether the lodestar should be 
adjusted. Hensley, 461 U.S. at 434. If the plaintiff suc-
ceeded on some claims but not others, and the unsuc-
cessful and successful claims are related, then the 
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court should look at “the significance of the overall re-
lief obtained by the plaintiff.” Id. at 435. If the plaintiff 
obtained excellent results, then it should be awarded a 
fully compensatory attorney’s fee. See Id. If the plain-
tiff had only partial or limited success, then a fully 
compensatory fee may be excessive. See Id. at 436. For 
example, a reduced fee award would be appropriate if, 
even though the plaintiff achieved significant relief, it 
was still “limited in comparison to the scope of the liti-
gation as a whole.” Id. at 440. If the plaintiff achieved 
only partial or limited success, then the court may “re-
duce the award to account for the limited success.” Id. 
at 436-37. 

 Hensley cautioned, however, that “it is not neces-
sarily significant that a prevailing plaintiff did not re-
ceive all the relief requested. For example, a plaintiff 
who failed to recover damages but obtained injunctive 
relief, or vice versa, may recover a fee award based on 
all hours reasonably expended if the relief obtained 
justified that expenditure of attorney time.” Hensley, 
461 U.S. at 435 n. 11. The Ninth Circuit has likewise 
held that “courts should not reduce lodestars based on 
relief obtained simply because the amount of damages 
recovered on a claim was less than the amount re-
quested. . . . Failure to obtain all relief requested for a 
claim on which the plaintiff prevailed should not de-
prive plaintiff ’s attorney of a reasonable hourly fee for 
hours needed to obtain the relief.” Quesada v. Thom-
ason, 850 F.2d 537, 539-40 (9th Cir. 1988); See also, 
Dang, 422 F.3d at 813 (“a plaintiff does not need to re-
ceive all the relief requested in order to show excellent 



App. 90 

 

results warranting the fully compensatory fee.”); 
Sorensen v. Mink, 239 F.3d 1140, 1147 (9th Cir. 2001) 
(accord). 

 Based on the above standards, a downward adjust-
ment of thirty-five percent (35%) is warranted. At the 
outset, the Court notes it has postponed consideration 
of some of the Kerr factors ordinarily baked into the 
initial lodestar computation due to the massive size of 
the fee petition. Gonzalez, 729 F.3d at 1203. For exam-
ple, three of the relevant Kerr factors that justify a 
modest downward adjustment concern the time and la-
bor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions 
involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal 
service properly. Kerr, 526 F.2d 69-70. 

 By and large, this Court has no problem with the 
substantial number of hours logged in this case. This 
case was vigorously defended from the outset, includ-
ing multiple motions to dismiss, various discovery mo-
tions, a motion for summary judgment, an appeal to 
the Ninth Circuit and subsequent remand, motions for 
reconsideration, a ten-day jury trial and approxi-
mately ten trial-related motions. (Doc. 10, 19, 41, 44, 
73, 78, 85, 160, 173, 176, 178, 224, 244, 245, 257, 265, 
299.) Defendants are well within their rights to mount 
such a powerful defense. But if Plaintiffs prevail, it 
should come as no surprise that Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ 
fees will be considerable. 

 The Court’s concerns, however, are basic notions of 
efficiency, duplicative work, unsuccessful claims, and 
whether all the hours presented in the fee petition 
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could have reasonably been billed to a paying client. 
The Court’s review of Plaintiffs’ billing records reveals 
multiple attorneys often working on the same assign-
ment, which necessarily results in inefficiency and du-
plicative fees. The Court is mindful that “necessary 
duplication – based on the vicissitudes of the litigation 
process – cannot be a legitimate basis for a fee reduc-
tion.” Moreno, 534 F.3d at 1113. To the extent such du-
plication was not necessary, however, it is properly 
included as part of the thirty-five percent overall re-
duction to Plaintiffs’ lodestar. 

 Similarly, the Court frequently noticed instances 
where the amount of time spent on particular project 
appears excessive and could not have reasonably been 
billed to a paying client. For example, Plaintiffs’ attor-
neys, on many occasions, billed over four hours “re-
searching” a relatively ordinary legal standard. The 
Court recognizes that, “[b]y and large, the [district] 
court should defer to the winning lawyer’s professional 
judgment as to how much time he was required to 
spend on the case.” Moreno, 534 F.3d at 1112. This 
Court, however, sees a great deal of Section 1983 liti-
gation, and is familiar with the amount of time reason-
ably competent counsel should expend on certain 
matters. To the extent Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ bills are ex-
cessive, this consideration is properly included in the 
thirty-five percent overall reduction to Plaintiffs’ lode-
star. 

 The greatest consideration, however, is Plaintiffs’ 
overall success in this case. The core of Plaintiffs’ suit 
has always been their contention that Defendants 
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acted improperly in killing their son. The jury agreed 
with them, holding under Section 1983 that Defend-
ants used unconstitutionally excessive force, and that 
under California law, Defendants wrongfully caused 
Stephen’s death. Plaintiffs received a net judgment in 
excess of three-hundred thousand dollars. The overall 
relief obtain by Plaintiffs can be considered significant. 

 Nonetheless, Plaintiffs’ limited success cannot be 
overlooked. Plaintiffs initially sought to hold Defend-
ants liable under Monell and supervisory liability the-
ories. These theories failed. Plaintiffs also sought to 
assert claims on behalf of Stephen’s former girlfriend, 
Ms. Uribe. Those claims failed. Plaintiffs argued to the 
jury that the entire incident, from the initial encounter 
to the final shot(s), violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional 
rights. The jury rejected this argument, and found only 
Officer Catton’s final shots created liability. Indeed, Of-
ficer Astacio was not held liable for any of Plaintiffs’ 
injuries. Most importantly, Stephen Willis was found to 
be eighty percent responsible for his own death. Thus, 
despite the varying conduits through which Plaintiffs 
sought to challenge Defendants’ actions, the lone man-
ner in which Plaintiffs succeeded is marred by a ver-
dict that found Stephen was four times more at fault 
for his injuries than Defendants.21 Accordingly, the 

 
 21 The Court notes that Plaintiffs voluntarily abandoned 
their Fourteenth Amendment claims just before the case went to 
the jury. These claims remained viable; however, Plaintiffs aban-
doned them to avoid confusion to the jury in the verdict form. The 
Court does not hold Plaintiffs’ failure to succeed on the Four-
teenth Amendment claim against them, but nonetheless notes 
that Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth Amendment claim was one of many  
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Court finds that Plaintiffs’ success was very “limited in 
comparison to the scope of the litigation as a whole.” 
Hensley, 461 U.S. at 440.22 

 At the same time, Plaintiffs’ limited success must 
be viewed in light of the benefit they obtained for the 
public. McCown v. City of Fontana, 565 F.3d 1097, 1105 
(9th Cir. 2009). (“In setting a reasonable fee award . . . 
[a] district court should consider whether, and to what 
extent, [the plaintiff ’s] suit benefitted the public.”) The 
Ninth Circuit has consistently held that successful ex-
cessive force lawsuits “act as a deterrent to law en-
forcement and serve the public purpose of helping to 
protect the plaintiff and persons like him from being 
subjected to similar unlawful treatment in the future.” 
Morales, 96 F.3d at 365; See also, Guy, 608 F.3d at 590; 
Mahach-Watkins v. Dupree, 593 F.3d at 1061-62. Even 
considering these achievements, however, the results 
were not sufficient to warrant full payment according 
to the lodestar. 

 For the most part, it is not possible to parse out 
the specific time spent on Plaintiffs’ unsuccessful alle-
gations. Most of this litigation focused generally on 

 
claims that did not contribute to the success Plaintiffs ultimately 
obtained. 
 22 This Court does not suggest a reduction is warranted 
merely because “plaintiff[s] did not receive all the relief re-
quested.” Hensley, 461 U.S. at 435 n. 11. The disparity between 
Plaintiffs request for fifteen million dollars and the judgment in 
Plaintiffs’ favor of a little over three hundred thousand dollars is 
at most a negligible consideration. 
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whether Defendants should be held liable for Ste-
phen’s death, and Plaintiffs prevailed in that regard. 
But because of the many ways in which Plaintiffs’ 
claims failed, a significant amount of time spent on 
this case was not reasonably necessary to obtain the 
relief that was ultimately obtained. While a plaintiff 
need not obtain all requested relief in order to achieve 
excellent results, see Dang v. Cross, 422 F.3d 800, 813 
(9th Cir. 2005), there is too great a mismatch between 
the results obtained and the relief sought to warrant a 
full award here. 

 Having considered the relevant Kerr factors not 
already considered in the initial lodestar computation, 
and in light of the limits on plaintiff ’s success, a thirty-
five percent lodestar reduction is warranted. This ad-
justment reflects that while the enormous time spent 
on this litigation was in some respects out of propor-
tion to the results ultimately obtained, counsel none-
theless achieved meaningful success for their client 
and the public. If a district court has discretion to im-
pose an across-the-board ten percent fee “haircut” with 
little to no explanation, Moreno v. City of Sacramento, 
534 F.3d at 1112, even where the plaintiff achieves “ex-
cellent” results, id. at 1114, it is reasonable here to re-
duce plaintiff ’s overall fees by thirty-five percent, for 
the reasons described above. See Harris v. Marhoefer, 
24 F.3d 16, 18-19 (9th Cir. 1994) (affirming district 
court’s 50% reduction of attorneys’ fees in civil rights 
case based on plaintiff ’s partial success); Mahach-Wat-
kins, 593 F.3d at 1063 (affirming district court’s deci-
sion to reduce fees by 80% due to limited success). 
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 Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ adjusted lodestar figure is 
as follows: 

 $1,104,065.70 – $386,422.96 ($1,104,065.70 * .35) = 
$ 717,642.74 

 
C. Plaintiffs’ Costs 

 “Under § 1988, the prevailing party may recover 
as part of the award of attorney’s fees those out-of-
pocket expenses that would normally be charged to a 
fee paying client.” Dang, 422 F.3d at 814 (citations and 
internal quotation marks omitted). “Such out-of-pocket 
expenses are recoverable when reasonable.” Id. 

 Plaintiffs seek $197,490.57 in costs. Defendants 
present numerous arguments attacking Plaintiffs’ 
costs. Several of these arguments do not merit a de-
tailed analysis.23 Two arguments that merit a more in-
depth discussion concern Plaintiffs’ costs incurred on 

 
 23 Defendants argue the Court should exclude $11,503.27 in 
costs relating to witnesses that did not testify at trial. This argu-
ment is rejected for the same reasons discussed above, supra fn. 
10. Defendants argue the Court should exclude $9,538.71 in costs 
relating to Plaintiffs’ use of a private investigator. This argument 
is rejected for the same reasons discussed above, supra fn. 10. De-
fendants present numerous concl usory arguments concerning 
costs associated with legal research, lodging, shipping, parking, 
gas, mileage. These arguments are unsupported and otherwise 
meritless. See Chalmers v. City of Los Angeles, 796 F.2d 1205, 1216 
n. 7 (9th Cir. 1986 (noting that “out-of-pocket expenses incurred 
by an attorney which would normally be charged to a fee paying 
client are recoverable as attorney’s fees” (emphasis added)); Dang, 
422 F.3d at 814 (same). The Court will not exclude these costs.  
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appeal and Plaintiffs’ costs with respect to expert wit-
nesses. 

 
1. Costs Plaintiffs Incurred on Appeal 

 Plaintiffs seek costs relating to their appeal to the 
Ninth Circuit.24 Defendants argue Plaintiffs cannot re-
cover costs incurred on appeal, and seek to exclude 
$37,861.44 – the costs Plaintiffs’ incurred on appeal. 
Defendants base this argument, in part, on an inter-
pretation of Ninth Circuit Rules and Cummings, which 
the Court has already rejected supra. Plaintiffs do not 
advance any other argument in support of their ability 
to obtain costs that differ from their arguments in sup-
port of fees. 

 Defendants, however, raise an argument that dis-
tinguishes the fee analysis from the cost analysis. In 
the Ninth Circuit’s Order remanding Plaintiffs’ claims, 
the Ninth Circuit stated that “[e]ach party shall bear 
its own costs.” (Doc. 155, p. 6.) Presumably, Ninth Cir-
cuit was referring to the costs the parties incurred on 

 
 24 In its Reply Brief, Plaintiffs acknowledge they improperly 
sought double recovery for Ms. Lake’s fees. Specifically, Plaintiffs 
note they sought to recover Ms. Lake’s reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
while also seeking to recover the retainer Plaintiffs paid to Ms. 
Lake as costs. Plaintiffs agreed to withdraw their request for 
$25,000 in costs, which was supposed to represent the amounts 
paid to Ms. Lake previously sought as costs. However, the Court’s 
review of Plaintiffs costs indicates they are seeking fees paid to 
Ms. Lake as costs in the amount of $30,000. It matters not, be-
cause as the Court will grant Defendants’ request to exclude all 
costs associated with Plaintiffs’ appeal in the amount of 
$37,861.44. 
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appeal. This Court will not reconsider the Ninth Cir-
cuit’s Order. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ costs on appeal in 
the amount of $37,861.44 are excluded. 

 
2. Expert Costs 

 Defendants contend that plaintiff may not recover 
expenses under Section 1988 for expert witness fees. 
By Defendants’ estimation, Plaintiffs seek $53,776.93 
in costs relating to expert witness fees. Plaintiffs do not 
offer any argument concerning their entitlement to ex-
pert fees as costs. 

 Subsection 1988(c) permits a prevailing plaintiff 
in an action under Section 1981 or 1981(a) to recover 
expert fees. “However, a prevailing plaintiff may not 
recover expert fees in an action under Section 1983.” 
Deocampo v. Potts, 2: 06-cv-1283-WBS-CMK, 2014 WL 
788429 at * 14 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 25, 2014), (citing W. Va. 
Univ. Hosps. v. Casey, 499 U.S. 83, 102 (1991), overruled 
on other grounds by the 1991 Civil Rights Act); See 
also, Ruff v. County of Kings, 700 F.Supp.2d 1225, 1243 
(E.D. Cal. 2010) (noting that “cases are uniform that 
Section 1988(c) does not apply to a Section 1983 ac-
tion”). 

 In Crawford Fitting Co. v. J.T. Gibbons, Inc., 482 
U.S. 437, 439, 107 S.Ct. 2494, 96 L.Ed.2d 385 (1987), 
the Supreme Court held that expert witness fees are 
only recoverable pursuant to a contract or explicit stat-
utory authority. In West Virginia University Hospitals 
v. Casey, the Supreme Court addressed whether expert 
fees in civil rights litigation may be shifted to the 
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losing party pursuant to Section 1988. The Supreme 
Court found that where Congress had intended to pro-
vide for the recovery of expert fees, it specifically pro-
vided for such recovery and ruled that Section 1988’s 
provision for a “reasonable attorney’s fee” did not allow 
for the recovery of expert witness fees. W. Va. Hosps., 
299 U.S. at 115-6. Following that decision, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1988(c) was enacted in 1991 to expressly provide: “In 
awarding an attorney’s fee under subsection (b) of this 
section in any action or proceeding to enforce a provi-
sion of section 1981 or 1981 a, the court, in its discre-
tion, may include expert fees as part of the attorney’s 
fee.” 

 Here, Plaintiff ’s action was based on Section 1983, 
not Section 1981 or Section 1981a. Plaintiff cites no au-
thority that has permitted an award of expert witness 
fees in a Section 1983 action pursuant to Section 
1988(c), and existing authority this Court has located 
is to the contrary. The Court will therefore exclude the 
$52,776.93 for expert witness fees. 

 Having reviewed the remainder of the billing en-
tries submitted by plaintiffs, the court determines that 
the expenses listed are reasonable and of the sort that 
would ordinarily be charged to a fee-paying client. See 
Dang, 422 F.3d at 814. Accordingly, the Court will per-
mit plaintiffs to recover $106,852.20 in expenses.25 

 
 25 The majority of Plaintiffs’ remaining costs relate to trial 
exhibits and technology. Defendants have not objected to these 
costs, thus, the Court will not address whether they are properly 
included in an award of costs. 
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D. Defendants’ Bill of Costs 

 Both Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(d)(1) and 
Local Rule 292(f ) permit a prevailing party to tax costs 
to the losing side. Rule 54(d)(1) “creates a presumption 
in favor of awarding costs to a prevailing party, but 
vests in the district court discretion to refuse to award 
costs.” Ass’n of Mex.-Am. Educators v. California, 231 
F.3d 572, 591 (9th Cir. 2000) (en banc). Both the Ninth 
Circuit and numerous judges in this district have held 
that the court may require a party to bear its own costs 
“[i]n the event of a mixed judgment.” Amarel v. Con-
nell, 102 F.3d 1494, 1523 (9th Cir. 1996); see also, e.g., 
Tubbs v. Sacramento Cnty. Jail, 258 F.R.D. 657, 659 
(E.D. Cal. 2009); Endurance Am. Specialty Ins. Co. v. 
Lance-Kashian & Co., Civ. No. 1:10-1284 LJO DLB, 
2011 WL 6012213, at *2 (E.D. Cal. Dec. 1, 2011) (“Given 
the mixed judgment and good faith dispute over diffi-
cult issues, an award of costs is unwarranted and each 
side is to bear its respective costs.”). 

 Here, the jury found that two of the three defend-
ants who went to trial were liable under Section 1983. 
And while defendants were successful in defending 
against some claims and defenses, Plaintiffs prevailed 
on the core theory of their claims, i.e., Defendants use 
of excessive force wrongfully caused Stephen’s death. 
Defendants’ partial success does not mandate an 
award of costs. See Tubbs, 258 F.R.D. at 661 (denying 
costs to the defendants in a civil rights action when the 
plaintiff only prevailed on some claims but not others); 
Cole v. Munoz, Civ. No. 1:09-00476 SAB, 2013 WL 
3892955, at *2 (E.D. Cal. July 26, 2013) (declining to 
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award costs when plaintiff prevailed on excessive force 
claims against two of the three defendants); Deocampo 
v. Potts, 2014 WL 788429 (E.D. Cal. 2014) (awarding 
Plaintiffs’ costs, and declining Defendants’ costs, 
where “two of the three defendants who went to trial 
were liable under Section 1983.”) Accordingly, the 
court will require defendants to bear their own costs in 
this action. 

 
CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons discussed herein, the Court OR-
DERS as follows: 

1. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Attorney’s fees and 
costs is GRANTED IN PART. The Court 
Awards Plaintiffs $ 717,642.74 in reason-
able attorneys’ fees, and $106,852.20 in 
costs and expenses; 

2. Defendants shall bear their own costs. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated:   July 17, 2014   

               /s/ Barbara A. McAuliffe                
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT 
 

CHRIS WILLIS and 
MARY WILLIS, individually 
and Successors in Interest 
to Stephen Willis, 

  Plaintiffs-Appellees, 

v. 

CITY OF FRESNO; et al., 

  Defendants-Appellants. 

No. 14-16560 

D.C. No. 
1:09-cv-01766-BAM 
Eastern District of 
California, Fresno 

ORDER 

(Filed Apr. 7, 2017) 

 

CHRIS WILLIS and 
MARY WILLIS, individually 
and Successors in Interest 
to Stephen Willis, 

  Plaintiffs-Appellants, 

v. 

CITY OF FRESNO; et al., 

  Defendants-Appellees. 

Nos. 14-16641 

D.C. No. 
1:09-cv-01766-BAM 
Eastern District of 
California, Fresno 

 
Before: MELLOY,* CLIFTON, and WATFORD, Circuit 
Judges. 

 
 * The Honorable Michael J. Melloy, Circuit Judge for the 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, sitting by designa-
tion. 
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 The panel unanimously votes to deny the petition 
for panel rehearing. Judge Watford votes to deny the 
petition for rehearing en banc, and Judges Melloy and 
Clifton so recommend. The full court has been advised 
of the petition for rehearing en banc, and no judge 
requested a vote on whether to rehear the matter en 
banc. Fed. R. App. P. 35. The petition for panel rehear-
ing and rehearing en banc, filed March 15, 2017, is DE-
NIED. 
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